การแขกอะมีอกซีซิลลินออกจากน้ำทิ้งทางเภสัชกรรมโดยการสกัดแบบเสริมฤทธิ์



บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิศวกรรมศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาวิศวกรรมเคมี ภาควิชาวิศวกรรมเคมี คณะวิศวกรรมศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2557 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

SEPARATION OF AMOXICILLIN FROM PHARMACEUTICAL WASTEWATER BY SYNERGISTIC EXTRACTION

Mr. Chaiyarerk Homsirikamol



จุฬาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Engineering Program in Chemical Engineering Department of Chemical Engineering Faculty of Engineering Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2014 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	SEPARATION OF AMOXICILLIN FROM PHARMACEUTICAL WASTEWATER BY
	SYNERGISTIC EXTRACTION
Ву	Mr. Chaiyarerk Homsirikamol
Field of Study	Chemical Engineering
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Kasidit Nootong, Ph.D.
Thesis Co-Advisor	Niti Sunsandee, D.Eng.

Accepted by the Faculty of Engineering, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

Dean of the Faculty of Engineering (Professor Bundhit Eua-arporn, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE
Chairman
(Assistant Professor Amornchai Arpornwichanop, D.Eng.)
Thesis Advisor
(Assistant Professor Kasidit Nootong, Ph.D.)
Thesis Co-Advisor
(Niti Sunsandee, D.Eng.)
Examiner
(Professor Ura Pancharoen, D.Eng.Sc.)
Examiner
(Assistant Professor Vichitra Chongvisal, Ph.D.)
External Examiner
(Assistant Professor Prakorn Ramakul, D.Eng.)

ชัยฤกษ์ หอมศีริกมล : การแขกอะม็อกซีซิลลินออกจากน้ำทิ้งทางเภสัชกรรมโดยการสกัด แบบเสริมฤทธิ์ (SEPARATION OF AMOXICILLIN FROM PHARMACEUTICAL WASTEWATER BY SYNERGISTIC EXTRACTION) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ผศ. คร.กษิดิศ หนูทอง, อ.ที่ปรึกษา วิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม: คร.นิติ สันแสนดี, 141 หน้า.

การปนเปื้อนของอะม็อกซีซิลลินจากน้ำทิ้งทางเภสัชกรรมลงในแหล่งน้ำก่อให้เกิดผลเสีย ้ต่อระบบนิเวศน์และอาจเพิ่มความลำบากในการรักษาการติดเชื้อจากแบคทีเรียในมนุษย์ เยื่อแผ่น ้เหลวที่พยุงด้วยเส้นใยกลวงเป็นวิธีการที่มีศักยภาพในการใช้งานเพื่อแยกและนำกลับอะม็อกซี ซิลลินได้ภายในหน่วยปฏิบัติการเดียว จากสมบัติการแตกตัวของกรดของอะม็อกซีซิลลิน จึงทำการ ้ คัคเลือกสารสกัคเพื่อทคลองการสกัคอะม็อกซีซิลลินซึ่งประกอบด้วยไตรออกทิลเมทิลแอมโมเนียม คลอไรค์ (Aliquat 336) กรคไค-(2-เอทิลเฮกซิล)-ฟอสฟอริก (D2EHPA) ไตรบิวทิลฟอสเฟต (TBP) และใตรออกทิลเอมีน (Alamine 336) และยังใช้งานสารสกัดผสมสองชนิดระหว่างสาร สกัดในข้างต้นเพื่อทดสอบความเป็นไปได้ของการสกัดอะม็อกซีซิลลินแบบเสริมฤทธิ์ ผลการ ทคลองพบว่าค่าพีเอชเริ่มต้นของสารละลายอะม็อกซีซิลลินเท่ากับ 10 และ การผสมระหว่างสาร สกัด Aliquat 336 และ TBP (AqT) ด้วยอัตราส่วนโดยโมลเท่ากับ 10 มิลลิโมลาร์ ต่อ 2 มิลลิโม ลาร์ ทำให้ได้การสกัดอะม็อกซีซิลลินแบบเสริมฤทธิ์ที่มีร้อยละการสกัดสูงสุดที่ 90.4 ± 0.39 เปอร์เซ็นต์ ขณะที่สภาวะเหมาะสมของค่าพีเอชและความเข้มข้นของสารละลายโพแทสเซียมคลอ ไรด์ระหว่างการนำกลับอะม็อกซีซิลลินพบว่ามีค่าเท่ากับ 5 และ 6 มิลลิโมลาร์ การทดลองต่อมาใน ระบบเยื่อแผ่นเหลวที่พยุงด้วยเส้นใยกลวงโดยใช้สภาวะเหมาะสมที่ได้รับในข้างต้นพบว่าได้รับร้อย ้ละการสกัคและการนำกลับที่สภาวะคงตัวค่าเท่ากับ 31.8 เปอร์เซ็นต์ และ 9.7 เปอร์เซ็นต์ ้ตามลำคับเมื่อควบคมอัตราไหลของสารละลายอะมีอกซีซิลลินและ โพแทสเซียมคลอไรค์เท่ากับ 62.5 มิลลิลิตรต่อนาที โดยค่าของร้อยละการสกัดและร้อยละการนำกลับที่ค่อนข้างต่ำคาดว่าเป็นผล จากระยะเวลาการสัมผัสเพื่อทำปฏิกิริยาสั้น

ภาควิชา	วิศวกรรมเคมี	ถายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา	วิศวกรรมเคมี	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
ปีการศึกษา	2557	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

5670164721 : MAJOR CHEMICAL ENGINEERING

KEYWORDS: AMOXICILLIN / WASTEWATER / SYNERGISTIC / EXTRACTION / HFSLM

> CHAIYARERK HOMSIRIKAMOL: SEPARATION OF AMOXICILLIN FROM PHARMACEUTICAL WASTEWATER BY SYNERGISTIC EXTRACTION. ADVISOR: ASST. PROF. KASIDIT NOOTONG, Ph.D., CO-ADVISOR: NITI SUNSANDEE, D.Eng., 141 pp.

The contamination of amoxicillin from pharmaceutical wastewater into aquatic environment adversely affects ecosystem as well as the increasing the treatment difficulty of bacterial infection in human. Hollow fiber supported liquid membrane (HFSLM) is a promising method for amoxicillin removal and recovery in a single unit. Based on the polyprotic property of amoxicillin, several extractants are selected to perform the reactive liquid-liquid extraction of amoxicillin including trioctylmethylammonium chloride (Aliquat 336), di-(2-ethylhexyl)-phosphoric acid (D2EHPA), tributyl phosphate (TBP), trioctylamine (Alamine 336) as well as the binary mixture of the mentioned extractant as means to achieve synergistic amoxicillin extraction. The results of the experiment indicated that the initial pH of amoxicillin solution should be adjusted to 10. The mixture of Aliquat 336 and TBP (AqT) prepared at the molar ratio of 10:2 provided the synergistic amoxicillin extraction with the maximum extraction percentage of 90.4 \pm 0.39% while the optimal pH and concentrations of KCl stripping solution should be maintained at 5 and 6 mM, respectively. The obtained condition was subsequently applied to HFSLM, resulting in the steady state extraction and stripping percentages of 31.8% and 9.7%, respectively, when the flow rates of feed and stripping streams were 62.5 mL/min. Low magnitudes of extraction and stripping percentages were likely related to short contact time.

Department:	Chemical Engineering	Student's Signature
Field of Study:	Chemical Engineering	Advisor's Signature
Academic Year:	2014	Co-Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Despite the presence of only my name on the cover of this thesis, numerous people have contributed to its completeness. I owe my deepest gratitude to all those people who have supported, guided and made this thesis possible and since of whom my graduate experience has been shared with one eternally appreciated.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Asst. Prof. Dr. Kasidit Nootong, for his expertise, understanding, patient and exemplifying the idea. Undertaking many academic and professional commitments, he, however, has always lent a helping hand on no matter how big or small problems. I would like to thank my co-advisor, Dr. Niti Sunsandee, who let me experience the research of hollow fiber supported liquid membrane in the practical issues beyond the textbooks. Very special thanks go to other members of my committee, Asst. Prof. Dr. Amornchai Arpornwichanop, Prof. Dr. Ura Pancharoen, Asst. Prof. Dr. Vichitra Chongvisal, and Asst. Prof. Dr. Prakorn Ramakul, for the suggestion and assistance they provided.

I would like to thank my friends in the Biochemical Engineering and Separation Technology Research Laboratory for inspiring endless effort and venting frustration, though we were under the tremendous work pressure together.

I would also like to thank my family for the support and encouragement through my whole life. They provided me the confidence to bravely face whenever the incident rushed into. I doubt that I will ever be able to convey my acknowledgement completely, but I owe them my everlasting gratitude.

Finally, this research would not have been possible without the financial assistance from the Chulalongkorn University Centenary Academic Development Project (RES560530659-FW) and the Grant MRG5580157, which was cofounded by Thailand Research Fund, Office of the Higher Education Commission, and the Chulalongkorn University. I also would like to acknowledge the support from the Government Pharmaceutical Organization (Thailand).

CONTENTS

Page	Э
THAI ABSTRACTiv	
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi	
CONTENTSvii	
LIST OF FIGURESx	
LIST OF TABLES xiii	
LIST OF NOTATIONSxvi	
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION1	
1.1 Background and rationale1	
1.2 Objectives	
1.3 Scopes of study	
1.4 Expected benefits	
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Amoxicillin	
2.2 Removal methods of antibiotics from aquatic environment	
2.3 Removal methods of amoxicillin from aquatic environment	
2.4 Liquid membrane	
2.4.1 Supported liquid membrane (SLM)	
2.4.2 Emulsion liquid membrane (ELM)21	
2.4.3 Bulk liquid membrane (BLM)22	
2.5 Extractant types	
2.5.1 Aliquat 33624	
2.5.2 Alamine 33625	
2.5.3 Di-(2-ethylhexyl)-phosphoric acid (D2EHPA)26	
2.5.4 Tributyl phosphate (TBP)26	
2.6 Transport mechanisms in liquid membrane27	
2.6.1 Simple transport27	
2.6.2 Facilitated transport	

			Page
		2.6.3 Coupled counter- or cotransport	29
		2.6.4 Active transport	29
	2.7	Separation of β -lactam antibiotics through liquid membrane	29
Cl	HAI	PTER 3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	39
	3.1	Chemicals	39
	3.2	Equipments	41
	3.3	Reactive liquid-liquid extraction of amoxicillin by single extractant	44
		3.3.1 Effect of initial pH of amoxicillin solution	44
		3.3.2 Effect of extractant concentrations	45
		3.3.3 Effect of pHs of stripping solution	45
		3.3.4 Effect of concentrations of stripping solution	46
	3.4	Synergistic extraction of amoxicillin	46
		3.4.1 Synergistic extraction	46
		3.4.2 Effect of pH of stripping solution on the stripping percentage for synergistic extraction of amoxicillin	48
		3.4.3 Effect of concentrations of stripping solution on the stripping percentage for synergistic extraction of amoxicillin	48
	3.5	Operation of HFSLM	49
		3.5.1 Preparation of HFSLM	49
		3.5.2 Effect of feed and stripping flow rate on the separation efficiency	50
Cl	HAI	PTER 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	53
	4.1	Reactive liquid-liquid extraction of amoxicillin by single extractant	53
		4.1.1 Effect of initial pH of amoxicillin solution	53
		4.1.2 Effect of extractant concentrations	56
		4.1.3 Effect of pH of stripping solution	58
		4.1.4 Effect of KCl concentration	59
	4.2	Synergistic extractant of Amoxicillin	61
		4.2.1 Synergistic extraction	62

	Page
4.2.2 Effect of pH and KCl concentration on stripping performance for	
synergistic extraction of amoxicillin	66
4.3 Operation of HFSLM	67
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	74
5.1 Conclusion	74
5.2 Recommendations	75
REFERENCES	77
APPENDIX A THE FORMULATIONS OF BUFFER SOLUTIONS	92
APPENDIX B PREPARATION OF STANDARD CALIBRATION CURVE	94
APPENDIX C EXPERIMENTAL DATA	97
APPENDIX D EQUILIBRIUM STUDY FOR AMOXICILLIN EXTRACTION	
BY SINGLE EXTRACTANT	.135
VITA	.141



ix

LIST OF FIGURES

Page
Figure 1.1 The principle of separation in HFSLM (Wannachod et al., 2014)
Figure 1.2 Conceptual framework of this research
Figure 2.1 The chemical structure of (a) β -lactam ring and (b) an amoxicillin
Figure 2.2 The total charge of the ionized amoxicillin along the pH scale9
Figure 2.3 Liquid membrane systems: supported liquid membrane (SLM),
emulsion liquid membrane (ELM) and bulk liquid membrane (BLM). F is the
feed phase, M is the liquid membrane phase and S is the stripping phase (Kislik,
2010)
Figure 2.4 (a) HFSLM module (b) countercurrent flow configuration of HFSLM
(Prakorn and Ura, 2003)
Figure 2.5 Chemical structures of extractant used in this research: (a) Aliquat 336
(b) Alamine 336, (c) D2EHPA and (d) TBP24
Figure 2.6 Transport mechanisms in the liquid membrane: (a) simple transport
(b) simple transport together with stripping reaction (c) facilitated transport (d)
coupled-counter transport (e) coupled cotransport (f) active transport. F is feed
phase, M is liquid membrane phase and S is stripping phase; D is solute to be
recovered; A are anions cotransported; E is extractant; red is reduction; oxi is
oxidation. (Kislik et al., 2010)
Figure 3.1 Schematic drawing of hollow-fiber supported liquid membrane
module (Lothongkum et al., 2011)
Figure 3.2 HFSLM scheme during the startup in which the extractant solution
was fed into the system to form liquid membrane while the DI water was flushed
to remove the excess extractant solution: (1) the HFSLM module (2) extractant
solution/DI water container (3) magnetic stirrers (4) gear pumps (5) rotameters (6)
inlet pressure gauges and (7) outlet pressure gauges

Figure 3.3 The HFSLM scheme during the steady state extraction and stripping of amoxicillin: (1) the hollow fiber supported liquid membrane module (2) magnetic stirrers (3) gear pumps (4) rotameters (5) inlet pressure gauges (6) outlet pressure gauges (7) inlet amoxicillin solution container (8) inlet stripping/potassium chloride solution container (9) outlet amoxicillin solution Figure 4.1 Extraction percentages of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of single extractant dissolved in 1-decanol with different initial pHs of amoxicillin solution...55 Figure 4.3 Extraction percentages of amoxicillin subjected to different extractant concentrations given that the initial pH of amoxicillin solution was maintained at Figure 4.4 Stripping percentages of amoxicillin by using KCl as stripping solution at different pH. The stripping solution was maintained at 6 mM. Initial pH of amoxicillin solution was maintained at 10. Amoxicillin extraction was carried out by using 12 mM of Aliquat 336, D2EHPA, TBP and Alamine 336.60 **Figure 4.5** Stripping percentages of amoxicillin when varying KCl concentration. The initial pH of amoxicillin solution was set at 10 and four types of extractants at 12 mM were applied including Aliquat 336, D2EHPA, Alamine 336 and TBP......61 Figure 4.6 Extraction percentage and synergistic coefficient during synergistic extraction of amoxicillin by using binary mixtures: (a) AqD and (b) DT......64 Figure 4.7 Stripping percentages of amoxicillin by using AqT mixture prepared at the molar ratio of 10:2 as the extractant: (a) varying the pH of 6 mM KCl stripping solution and (b) varying the concentrations of KCl stripping solution with the pH of KCl maintained at 5. The initial pH of amoxicillin solution was Figure 4.8 Profiles of extraction percentages and pH during the operation of HFSLM at different flow rates. Countercurrent flow and once-through mode

Figure 4.9 Profiles of stripping percentages and pH during the operation of
HFSLM at different flow rates. Countercurrent flow and once-through mode
operation of HFSLM was used during the experiment70
Figure 4.10 Extraction percentages and pH during the operation of HFSLM using
different extractants as the liquid membrane and maintaining flow rate at 62.5
mL/min. HFSLM was operated countercurrently without recycle72
Figure 4.11 Stripping percentages and pH during the operation of HFSLM using
different extractants as the liquid membrane and maintaining flow rate at 62.5
mL/min. HFSLM was operated countercurrently without recycle73
Figure B.1 Standard calibration curves of amoxicillin at pH ranged from 2.0 to
10.0
Figure B.2 UV-vis spectra of amoxicillin solutions maintained at initial pH (a) 4
and (b) 10
Figure D.1 Various forms of amoxicillin in aqueous solution and their
nomenclature
Figure D.2 Plots of $\log \alpha$ versus $\log[Ex]$ by using different single extractant
systems when the initial nH of amovicillin solution was maintained at 10 140
systems when the initial pri of anoxieting solution was manualled at 10

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

LIST OF TABLES

Page
Table 2.1 Methods for antibiotic removal and degradation from aquatic
environment10
Table 2.2 Literature review on methods for amoxicillin removal from aquatic
environment15
Table 2.3 Comparison between different polymeric porous supports
(Lothongkum et al., 2011)
Table 2.4 Examples of commercial extractants 23
Table 2.5 Literature review on separation of β -lactam antibiotics through liquid
membrane
Table 3.1 Lists of chemicals used in the experiment
Table 3.2 Lists of equipments and their manufacturers 41
Table 3.3 Specification of hollow fibers membrane (Sunsandee et al., 2014)
Table 4.1 Chemical oxygen demand (COD) for amoxicillin solution, liquid
membrane and treated solution
Table A.1 Formulations of 1 liter of 1M phosphate buffer solutions at pH 2.0-10.0.92
Table A.2 Formulations of 1 liter of 1M acetate buffer solutions at pH 4.0-7.093
Table B.1 Calibration equations of amoxicillin at particular pH fitted to go
through the origin point95
Table C.1 Extraction percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of single
extractant and varying initial pH of amoxicillin solution from 2 to 1297
Table C.2 Extraction percentage and distribution coefficient of amoxicillin by
maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 and varying concentration of
extractant from 2 to 15 mM102

Table C.3 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of KCl solution
and varying pH of stripping solution from 4 to 7 after forward extraction by
employing 12 mM of single extractant and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin
solution at 10106
Table C.4 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by varying concentration of KCl
from 2 to 10 mM and adjusting pH of stripping solution to the optimal value after
forward extraction by employing 12 mM of single extractant and maintaining
initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10109
Table C.5 Synergistic coefficient of binary extractant systems with total
extractant concentration equal to 12 mM
Table C.6 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of KCl solution
and varying pH of stripping solution from 5 to 7 after forward extraction by
employing 10 mM of Aliquat 336 combined with 2 mM of TBP and maintaining
initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10116
Table C.7 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by varying concentration of KCl
from 2 to 10 mM and adjusting pH of stripping solution to 5 after forward
extraction by employing 10 mM of Aliquat 336 combined with 2 mM of TBP and
maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10117
Table C.8 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric
flow rate ranged from 62.5 to 200 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 mixed
with 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane
Table C.9 The nonlinear regression model of experimental data between
extraction percentage and time
Table C.10 The nonlinear regression model of experimental data between
stripping percentage and time
Table C.11 Steady-state extraction and stripping percentage of amoxicillin via
HFSLM at different countercurrent flow rates
Table C.12 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric
flow rate of 62.5 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 as a liquid membrane130

Table C.13 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric	
flow rate of 62.5 mL/min by using 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane	132
Table C.14 The nonlinear regression model of experimental data between	
extraction percentage and time when flow rate of 62.5 mL/min was maintained	
during the operation of HFSLM	133
Table C.15 The nonlinear regression model of experimental data between	
stripping percentage and time when flow rate of 62.5 mL/min was maintained	
during the operation of HFSLM	134
Table C.16 Extraction synergistic coefficient of the AqT mixture as a liquid	
membrane during the steady-state operation of HFSLM	134
Table D.1 The value of $log(\alpha)$ in Equation D.19 at different value of $log[Ex]$	139



, Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF NOTATIONS

a	=	thermodynamic activity		
А	=	the 1 st parameter of regression functions		
A ₂₇₂	=	absorbance at 272 nm		
AmD	=	the mixture of Alamine 336 and D2EHPA		
Amox^+	=	the protonated form with a positive charge of amoxicillin		
Amox	=	the zwitterionic form of amoxicillin		
Amox	=	the deprotonated form with a negative charge of amoxicillin		
Amox ²⁻	=	the deprotonated form with two negative charges of amoxicillin		
[Amox]	=	the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L)		
[Amox] _s	=	the final concentration of amoxicillin in the stripping aqueous		
		phase (mg/L)		
$[Amox]_0$	=	the initial concentration of amoxicillin in the extracted aqueous		
		phase (mg/L)		
AmT	=	the mixture of Alamine 336 and TBP		
AOT	=	sodium di-2-ethylhexylsulfosuccinate		
AqD	=	the mixture of Aliquat 336 and D2EHPA		
AqT	=	the mixture of Aliquat 336 and TBP		
В	=	the 2 nd parameter of regression functions		
BLM	=	bulk liquid membrane		
BOD	=	biological oxygen demand (mg/L)		
С	=	the 3 rd parameter of regression functions		
COD	=	chemical oxygen demand (mg/L)		
D	=	distribution coefficient		

DT	=	the mixture of D2EHPA and TBP	
D2EHPA	=	di-(2-ethylhexyl)-phosphoric acid	
ELM	=	emulsion liquid membrane	
Ex	=	extractant	
[<i>Ex</i>]	=	concentration of extractant (mM)	
HFSLM	=	hollow fiber supported liquid membrane	
K _a , pK _a	=	the acid dissociation constant	
K _E	=	the equilibrium complexation constant	
n	=	the number of extractant taking part in complexation with a	
		mole of amoxicillin	
S	=	synergistic coefficient	
SE	=	standard error	
SLM	=	supported liquid membrane	
TBP	=	tributyl phosphate	
UV-vis	=	ultraviolet-visible light	
X	=	predictors (i.e. point of time)	
Y	=	responses (i.e. extraction and stripping percentages)	

Greek letter

 γ = activity coefficient

Superscript

 ϕ = referring to the standard state of dilute solution

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background and rationale

The presence of antibiotics in the wastewater generated from pharmaceutical plants can negatively affect aquatic ecosystem. Prolonged exposure of bacteria to residual antibiotics in wastewater even at small levels can result in the activation of antibiotic resistant genes (Baquero et al., 2008; Wright, 2010) and consequently increases the difficulty or even failed treatment of numerous bacterial infection (Davidson et al., 2002). Some residual antibiotics were toxic towards microalgae and bacteria responsible for the natural bioremediation in aquatic environment as well as causing the loss in aquatic biodiversity (Secondes et al., 2014). Moreover, the treatment efficiency of biological wastewater treatment plant was adversely affected by the presence of antibiotics in incoming wastewater (Gartiser et al., 2007). Based on the reasons described, separation of antibiotics from disposed effluent stream should be intensively considered.

าลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Amoxicillin, a broad-spectrum β -lactam and penicillin-type antibiotic, is widely prescribed for treating bacterial infections. Amoxicillin blocks transpeptidase and transglycosylase enzymes causing the destruction of bacterial peptidoglycan cell wall (Kaur et al., 2011). Plianbangchang et al. (2010) reported that amoxicillin was the second most prescribed medication in Thailand distinct hospitals while Issarachaikul (2013) showed that amoxicillin was the most prescribed antibiotics for upper respiratory tract infection and acute bronchitis in King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital, Thailand. The Government Pharmaceutical Organization (GPO) of Thailand supplies amoxicillin in the form of 500 mg capsule with the average production rate of 100,000 capsules per day. After the production process, approximately 60 L of water is used daily for flushing and cleaning of containers and machines, thereby generating wastewater containing amoxicillin, which can trigger negative impacts on the environment. Therefore, the treatment of pharmaceutical wastewater containing amoxicillin was warrant before discharging the effluent into natural aquatic environment.

Many methods are available for the degradation and separation of amoxicillin from wastewater that include ozonation (Andreozzi et al., 2005), chlorination (Navalon et al., 2008), Fenton and photo-Fenton (Trovo et al., 2008; Elmolla and Chaudhuri, 2009), adsorption (Homem et al., 2010; Moussavi et al., 2013), semiconductor photocatalysis (Klauson et al., 2010) and hollow fiber supported liquid membrane (HFSLM) (Pirom et al., 2014). Ozonation, chlorination, Fenton/photo-Fenton and semiconductor photocatalysis utilize the oxidizing properties of ozone (O_3), chlorinated species, hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and water splitting-generated hydroxyl radical (OH⁻) to decompose amoxicillin molecules. However, these methods suffer from high toxicity of generated byproducts as well as inefficient performance when applying to wastewater containing high organic contents (Homem and Santos, 2011). Adsorption can overcome the limitation of ozonation and chlorination but involves the regeneration of solid adsorbents as well as proper disposal of solid residues that incurred addition expense (Homem and Santos, 2011).

Hollow fiber supported liquid membrane (HFSLM) has emerged as a promising method for amoxicillin removal from wastewater as well as the recovery of dilute compounds from upstream process. The advantages associated with HFSLM include low energy consumption, less organic solvent used as compared to the conventional liquid-liquid extraction and the complete operation in single-stage configuration (Kislik et al., 2010). HFSLM is a separation system containing three phases: feed, stripping and membrane. Feed and stripping phases are usually aqueous solutions while membrane phase is composed of an organic solution embedded in the pores of hydrophobic hollow fiber polymeric tubes (Schulz, 1988). The organic solution is a mixture of one or more extractants and diluent. Extractants are the carriers responsible for the transport of specific solutes (i.e., amoxicillin) from the feed phase to the stripping phase via chemical complexing reaction at the interfacial surface

(Kocherginsky et al., 2007). Fig. 1.1 displays the schematic diagram of the principle of separation in HFSLM.



Figure 1.1 The principle of separation in HFSLM (Wannachod et al., 2014)

In the case of amoxicillin separation, the extraction and stripping efficiency of HFSLM are related to several factors such as types of extractant and stripping solution, initial pH of amoxicillin aqueous phase as well as flow rates of feed and stripping solution. Pirom et al. (2014) reported that trialkylmethylammonium chloride (Aliquat 336) at 6 mmol/L was able to dissolve in 1-decanol and be used during the extraction of amoxicillin in HFSLM, resulting in the maximum extraction efficiency of 85.21% when the initial pH of amoxicillin feed and flow rate were maintained at 8.0 and 100 mL/min, respectively. Strong electrostatic interaction between negative charge of amoxicillin and positive charge of Aliquat 336 promoted the performance of extraction.

It should also be pointed out that amoxicillin is a polyprotic compound possessing three acid dissociation constants, namely $pKa_1 = 2.68$ at the carboxyl group, $pKa_2 = 7.49$ at the amine group and $pKa_3 = 9.63$ at the phenol group (Andreozzi et al., 2005). Due to different charged properties of amoxicillin at different pH values, the idea of

applying other types of extractant, such as those acidic and neutral extractants, in addition to the conventional Aliquat 336 which is a basic-typed extractant should be explored. Based on our literature review, the use of other extractants containing negative or neutral charges as well as the influence of operating conditions of HFSLM on the ability to separate amoxicillin from pharmaceutical wastewater remained Among commercial extractants besides Aliquat 336, di-(2-ethylhexyl)limited. phosphoric acid (D2EHPA), tributyl phosphate (TBP) and Alamine 336 are of our interest. These commercial extractants are typically employed in hydrometallurgy, biotechnology and wastewater treatment (Wasewar et al., 2002; Suren et al., 2012). D2EHPA, an organophosphoric acid, is an acidic carrier capable of extracting organic compounds containing amine group (Galaction et al., 2008). The amine group of amoxicillin molecule can be protonated into ammonium group (-NH₃⁺) at specific pH range in order to attract with protonated D2EHPA. TBP is a neutral phosphorousbonded oxygen-composing extractant, which was reported to be efficient for carboxylic acid extraction (Mei et al., 2002). Alamine 336, a mixture of tertiary amines, can also extract organic acids via acid-amine ion pair formation and acid-acid complexing reaction (Hong et al., 2001). Based on their properties, TBP and Alamine 336 are conceivable to separate amoxicillin, which consists of a carboxyl group. Apart from the single extractant systems, the use of binary extractant mixture was shown to improve the extraction efficiency relative to using the individual extractant, the effect known as synergistic extraction (Kislik, 2012). There also appears to be a lack of studies on the synergistic amoxicillin extraction, which may provide new type of extractants to improve amoxicillin removal efficiency from aqueous solution.

Based on the reasons mentioned, this research intends to study the separation of amoxicillin from pharmaceutical wastewater by using different extractants including Aliquat 336, D2EHPA, TBP, Alamine 336 and the binary combination of those mentioned extractants. Additional information to be used during the HFSLM operation including amoxicillin feed pH and flow rates will be presented.

1.2 Objectives

- 1.2.1 To determine the feasibility of Aliquat 336, D2EPHA, TBP and Alamine 336 as well as the binary system of the mentioned extractants in separating amoxicillin from pharmaceutical wastewater.
- 1.2.2 To demonstrate the separation of amoxicillin from pharmaceutical wastewater by employing HFSLM

1.3 Scopes of study

This study can be broadly classified into three main sections. The first section involves the reactive liquid-liquid extraction of amoxicillin with single extractant systems. The second section focuses on synergistic extraction of amoxicillin by using the binary extractant mixture considered in the first section. The results obtained from the previous sections are used in the final section, which involves operation of HFSLM. For all sections, synthetic pharmaceutical wastewater containing 1.37 mM (500 mg/L) of amoxicillin is used. Independent variables of each section are specified as follows (Fig. 1.2):

าลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

- 1.3.1 Reactive liquid-liquid extraction of amoxicillin with single extractant systems
 - Four extractants are used including D2EHPA, TBP, Aliquat 336 and Alamine 336.
 - Initial pHs of amoxicillin solution are varied from 2 to 12 while the concentrations of extractants are varied from 2 to 15 mM.
 - KCl was selected as stripping solution
 - The pH of stripping solution varied from 4 to 7 while the concentrations ranged from 2 to 10 mM.

- 1.3.2 Synergistic extraction of amoxicillin
 - The following combinations of extractants are used: Aliquat 336 and D2EHPA, Aliquat 336 and TBP, D2EHPA and TBP, Alamine 336 and TBP, and Alamine 336 and D2EHPA
 - The molar following molar ratios are used to test for synergistic effect for the mentioned binary system: 1:3, 1:1, 3:1 and 5:1.
 - The pH and concentrations of KCl stripping solution ranged from 5 to 7 and from 2 to 10 mM, respectively.

1.3.3 Operation of HFSLM

- Volumetric flow rates of feed and stripping solution were identical varying from 62.5 to 200 mL/min.
- HFSLM was operated in the countercurrent once-through mode.

1.4 Expected benefits

- 1.4.1 Optimal conditions for extraction and recovery of amoxicillin from pharmaceutical wastewater will be obtained.
- 1.4.2 Use of HFSLM complies with an increasing awareness of sustainable and environmental friendly production. In this case, the application of HFSLM reduces the amount of amoxicillin discharge into aquatic environment and consequently lowers the risk of promoting amoxicillin resistant genes in bacteria.



Figure 1.2 Conceptual framework of this research

CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter reviews the literatures and theories relating the extraction of amoxicillin and the hollow fiber supported liquid membrane (HFSLM) that may be useful in understanding this thesis. Specifically, this chapter covers the following topics: (1) general information of amoxicillin (2) removal methods of antibiotics and amoxicillin from the aquatic environment (3) principle of hollow fiber supported liquid membrane (4) properties and types of potential extractants to be employed in this research and (5) reviews of the separation of amoxicillin by HFSLM.

2.1 Amoxicillin

Amoxicillin ($C_{16}H_{19}N_3O_5S$) is classified as an antibiotic in the family of β -lactam, which includes penicillin derivatives, monobactams, carbapenems and cephalosporins. The general structures of β-lactam and amoxicillin are depicted in Amoxicillin and other β -lactam antibiotics prevent the synthesis of Fig. 2.1. peptidoglycan layer of bacterial cell wall by triggering the autolytic hydrolase to digest peptidoglycan (Kaur et al., 2011). Amoxicillin is a white or almost white powder with a smell of sulfur and is generally prescribed to treat the infections of ear, nose, throat, genitourinary tract, skin and lower respiratory tract. The amoxicillin possesses three acid dissociation constants namely $pKa_1 = 2.68$ at carboxyl group, $pKa_2 = 7.49$ at amine group and $pKa_3 = 9.63$ at phenol group (Andreozzi et al., 2005). The total charge of amoxicillin varies along the pH range as shown in Fig. 2.2



Figure 2.1 The chemical structure of (a) β -lactam ring and (b) an amoxicillin



Figure 2.2 The total charge of the ionized amoxicillin along the pH scale

The presence of amoxicillin into aquatic environment was able to induce antibiotic resistant genes that consequently results in more treatment difficulty (Baquero et al., 2008). Contamination of amoxicillin can cause biodiversity loss and adversely affected the performance of biological wastewater treatment plants (Secondes et al., 2014). Pan et al. (2008) also reported that contaminated amoxicillin suppressed the

photosynthetic pathways of microalgal *Synechocystis sp.* by delaying electron transport on donor side and acceptor side. Similar observation was noted for other microalgal species (Park and Choi, 2008).

2.2 Removal methods of antibiotics from aquatic environment

There are several methods to degrade or remove antibiotics from aqueous solution. Conventional wastewater treatments such as biological processes, filtration, coagulation, flocculation and sedimentation have critical limitations to treat antibiotic contaminated wastewater. Antibiotics are toxic to microorganisms, thus resulting in low removal efficiency of activated sludge technology or biological systems (Secondes et al., 2014). Past researches reported that filtration, coagulation, flocculation and sedimentation gave the maximum removal efficiency around 30% (Adams et al., 2002; Stackelberg et al., 2007; Vieno et al., 2007). Thus, alternative processes have been developed as summarized in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1 Methods for antibiotic removal and degradation from aquatic environr

Method	Principle	Pros-Cons	References
Chlorination	Antibiotics are oxidized by chlorinated species such as hypochlorite, chlorine gas and chlorine dioxide. Oxidized antibiotics are biodegradable and ready for further biological treatments. Chlorine dioxide is most preferred due to its selectivity with pollutants via one- electron exchange reaction	 <i>Pros</i>: High removal efficiency; Low cost of reagents; Suppress the presence to trihalomethanes and holoacetic acids, which are carcinogens. <i>Cons</i>: Low efficiency for the systems with high loads of organic substances; formation of carcinogen 	Navalon et al., 2008; Sharma, 2008

Table 2.1	Methods	for antibioti	c removal a	nd degrada	tion from	aquatic	environi	nent
(continued)							

Method	Principle	Pros-Cons	References
Reverse osmosis, nano and ultrafiltration	Selective semipermeable membrane retains antibiotics in the retentate. Pressurized in the membrane module,	<i>Pros</i> : High energy efficiency; Ability to recover high value antibiotics	Benitez et al., 2011; Shahtalebi and Sarrafzadeh, 2011
	wastewater selectively pass solid membrane by diffusion transport. Performance greatly depends on the properties of membrane.	degradation of membranes; New contaminated solid residue	
Ozonation	Ozone can directly react with nucleophilic molecules or indirectly form hydroxyl radicals by degradation in water	<i>Pros</i> : Suitable for the systems with fluctuating composition and/or flow rates; High	Stockinger et al., 1995; Andreozzi et al., 2005
	$O_3 + OH^- \rightarrow O_2 + HO_2^-$	degradation efficiency	
	$O_3 + HO_2 \rightarrow HO_2 + O_3$	าวิทยาลัย	
H ($HO_{2} \rightarrow H^{+} + O_{2}^{-}$ $O_{2}^{-} + O_{3} \rightarrow O_{2} + O_{3}^{-}$	<i>Cons</i> : High cost of maintenance; High	
	$O_3^{-}+H^+ \rightarrow HO_3^{-}$	energy consumption; Mass transfer limitation	
	$HO_3 \rightarrow OH + O_2$		
	Combination of ozone with UV irradiation, hydrogen peroxide or catalysts could promote the degradation efficiency and allow this process to be applied to cloudy discharge		

Method	Principle	Pros-Cons	Referenc -es
Adsorption	Antibiotics in fluid phase adhere to a solid adsorbent. Physical adsorption involves van der Waals force while chemical adsorption relates to covalent bonding. Efficiency depends properties of adsorbent and antibiotics of interest.	<i>Pros</i> : No generation of harmful metabolites; Suitable for the systems with high loads of antibiotics	Putra et al., 2009; Homem and Santos, 2011; Moussav -i et al., 2013
		<i>Cons</i> : Generate new solid residue; Lack of study of continuous systems	
Fenton and photo- Fenton	A mixture of hydrogen peroxide and ferrous ion is utilized as a strong oxidizing reagent. Reaction mechanisms are: $Fe^{2^+}+H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3^+}+OH^-+OH^-$	<i>Pros</i> : Low cost of reagents; Environmental -ly safe.	Arslan- Alaton and Gurses, 2004; Britto at
	$Fe^{3+}+H_2O_2\leftrightarrow H^++Fe(HO_2)^{2+}$	<i>Cons</i> : Low efficiency for systems with high loads of organic	al., 2008
	$Fe(HO_2)^{2+} \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + HO_2$ $Fe(HO_2)^{2+} + HO_2 \rightarrow Fe(OH)(HO_2)^{+} + H^{+}$		
	$Fe(OH)(HO_2)^+ \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + HO_2 + OH^-$		
	OH +organic substance \rightarrow	substances and ions $(Cl^2 NO_2)^2$	
	H_2O +degradation products $\rightarrow CO_2+H_2O$, CO_3^2 and	
	Similar to ozonation, UV radiation- photo-Fenton has higher degradation efficiency owing to the extra production of hydroxyl radicals.	HCO ₃); Strong dependence on pH.	

Table 2.1 Methods for antibiotic removal and degradation from aquatic environment (continued)

Table 2.1 Methods for antibiotic removal and degradation from aquatic environment (continued)

Method	Principle	Pros-Cons	References
Semiconductor photocatalysis	A semiconductor is activated by natural or artificial light to transfer electrons from valence to conduction band and permit holes to occur. The holes possess high oxidation potential leading to generation of hydroxyl radicals from water molecules. These radicals subsequently oxidize organic compounds. The organic compounds, adsorbed on the semiconductor surface, may be directly oxidized by electron transfer.	<i>Pros</i> : Ambient conditions; High removal efficiency and mineralization <i>Cons</i> : Low efficiency for the systems with high loads of organic substances: Difficulty to separate the catalyst	Elmolla and Chaudhuri, 2010a, 2010b
Photolysis	Organic compounds are forced to dissociate by using natural or artificial light. Light can directly attack aqueous organic compounds or indirectly induce the generation of radicals to oxidize substances. There are many factors influencing the performance of photolysis, for example the absorption spectrum of the target, radiation intensity, target medium and concentration of radical origins.	Pros: Suitable for the systems composing of photo-sensitive compounds <i>Cons</i> : Low efficiency for the systems with high loads of organic substances; Strong dependence on chemical structures of target compounds; and formation of toxic intermediates	Arslan-Alaton and Dogruel, 2004

Table 2.1	Methods for	antibiotic re	emoval and	degradation	from aqua	atic enviror	nment
(continued)						

Method	Principle	Pros-Cons	References
Electrochemic -al	Organic compounds undergo a direct anodic oxidation when they are adsorbed on the anode surface with the existence of an electrolyte. The occurring electron transfer between antibiotics and the electrode causes the presence of electroactive species, which indirectly oxidize pollutants in the bulk liquid.	<i>Pros</i> : Clean technology: Suitable for the systems with high loads of antibiotics <i>Cons</i> : High operating cost; Limited knowledge of the process	Hirose et al., 2005
Liquid Membrane	Antibiotics are transferred from wastewater to stripping solution by chemical reaction with an extractant dissolved in a diluent. The extractant dissolved in diluent acts as a liquid membrane which selectively allows extractant-reacting species to pass through and isolates two aqueous phases.	Pros: Ability to recover high value antibiotics; Energy efficiency; Able to separate antibiotics at dilute levels. Cons: Fouling and instability of liquid membrane	Ghosh et al., 1995; Sahoo et al., 1999; Vilt and Ho, 2010; Pirom et al., 2014

2.3 Removal methods of amoxicillin from aquatic environment

Removal of amoxicillin can be accomplished by using methods listed in the previous section. Table 2.2 displays the literature review of amoxicillin removal from aquatic environment.

Table 2.2 Literature review on methods for amoxicillin removal from aquatic

 environment

Author	Method	Findings
Elmolla and Chaudhuri, 2009	Fenton	• Complete degradation of amoxicillin was achieved under optimal conditions, molar ration of COD/H ₂ O ₂ /Fe ²⁺ = 1:3:0.30 and pH 3, in 2 minutes when initial concentration of amoxicillin was maintained at 104 mg/L
		• Biodegradability (BOD ₅ /COD ratio) increased from about 0 to 0.37 after 60 minutes of the treatment. Moreover, COD and DOC degradation of 81.4% and 54.3% were obtained respectively.
		• Fenton treatment caused mineralization indicated by increasing ammonia (from 8 to 13 mg/L) and nitrate (from 0.3 to 10 mg/L) within 60 minutes.
Trovó et al., Pho 2008	Photo-Fenton	• The amoxicillin degradation was not strongly influenced by the type of irradiation and sources, i.e. UV light and solar irradiation.
		• Ferrioxalate or Fe(NO) ₃ significantly enhanced removal efficiency.
		• Under the optimal conditions including pH 2.5, initial concentrations of amoxicillin, ferrioxalate and hydrogenperoxide at 42 mg/L, 0.20 mM and 2.0 mM, respectively, about 90% of amoxicillin oxidation was accomplished after 1-minute irradiation.
		• After 10 minutes of irradiation, antibiotics were completely degraded.
Klauson et al., 2010	Semiconductor Photocatalysis	• Natural solar radiation accelerated amoxicillin degradation about three times compared to artificial UV light.
		• The maximum removal percentage of 85% was accomplished using pH 6, TiO ₂ doped with the C atomic percentage at 37% under solar light for 2 hours.
		• COD removal and the formation of NO_3^- , NH_3 and SO_4^{2-} during the degradation indicated mineralization.

Author	Method	Findings
Su et al., 2012	Advanced oxidation process	• The system of oxone/Co ^{2+/} Ultrasound gave the best removal efficiency of amoxicillin and the lowest activated energy where the oxone is $2KHSO_5 \cdot KHSO_4 \cdot K_2SO_4$.
		• 98.7% removal of COD was reached after 60 minutes of reaction time at 24°C using 0.095 mM of amoxicillin, 5 mM of oxone, 0.025 mM of Co^{2+} and 200 W of 20 Hz ultrasound as the optimum conditions.
		• The degradation data of amoxicillin using oxone/Co ²⁺ /Ultrasound conformed to the first-order kinetic model.
Moussavi et al., 2013	Adsorption	• At equilibrium (after mixing at 25°C for 6 hours), adsorption efficiency of > 99% was obtained using 0.4 g /L of NH ₄ Cl-induced activated carbon and maintaining pH at 6.
		• Pseudo-second-order model properly correlated to the kinetic analysis of amoxicillin adsorption onto NH ₄ Cl-induced activated carbon.
		• Under the equilibrium condition, standard and NH ₄ Cl-induced activated carbon can adsorb amoxicillin at the maximum capacity of 262 and 437 mg/g, respectively.
Derakhsheshpor et al., 2013	Nanofiltration	• Longer UV irradiation time during the synthesis of polysulfone membrane led to the smaller surface pore size.
		• The decrease of coagulation bath temperature and the addition of higher molecular weight of poly(ethylene glycol) increased flux and amoxicillin separation through the membrane.
		• Membrane synthesis under strong basic condition caused electrostatic repulsion between solute and membrane and corresponding increased amoxicillin permeability.

Table 2.2 Literature review on methods for amoxicillin removal from aquatic

 environment (continued)

Author	Method	Findings
Chuo et al., 2014	Extraction using mixed reverse micelles	• During forward extraction, the optimum conditions were 5.5:1 molar ratio of AOT/Tween 85, 102.57 g/L of total surfactant concentration, pH 1.90 and 8.54 g/L of KCl which resulted in 95.54% of extraction efficiency.
		• During backward extraction, the optimum conditions were stripping pH 6.58, 15 minutes of extraction time and 11.02 g/L of KCl providing 90.79% recovery of amoxicillin.
		• Forward extraction required less amount of surfactant when mixed reverse micelles were used and Tween 85 conserved the antibiotic activity of amoxicillin.
Pirom et al., 2014	Hollow fiber supported liquid membrane	• Under the optimum conditions (pH 8, 6 mM of amoxicillin, 6 mM of NaCl, 6 mM of Aliquat 336 and 100 mL/min of flow rate), extraction and recovery percentages of amoxicillin reached 85.21% and 80.34%, respectively.
		• The aqueous-phase mass transfer coefficient and organic-phase mass transfer coefficient were found 3.57×10^2 and 0.70×10^2 cm/s, respectively.
		• The correlation between the developed diffusion flux model and experimental data was satisfactory.

Table 2.2 Literature review on methods for amoxicillin removal from aquatic

 environment (continued)

Note: COD is Chemical Oxygen Demand (mg/L), BOD is Biological Oxygen Demand (mg/L), AOT = sodium di-2-ethylhexylsulfosuccinate, and UV = Ultraviolet

2.4 Liquid membrane

Liquid membrane system composes of three phases: (1) feed phase which is a solution of specific solute to be separated; (2) liquid membrane phase which is the solution of extractant; and (3) stripping phase which is the solution of stripping agent used for

recovery of solutes from the liquid membrane phase. The liquid membrane phase is almost immiscible with feed and stripping phases, thus the feed and stripping phases are separated with the liquid membrane phase located between them. At the interfacial surface of feed and liquid membrane phases, a specific solute reacts with an extractant and solute-extractant complexes form inside the edge of the liquid membrane phase. Formed solute-extractant complexes diffuse through the liquid membrane phase to the interfacial surface near the stripping phase based on concentration gradients. A stripping agent reacts with the complexes and transfers the solute to the stripping phase. This basic principle is identical to the reactive extraction but liquid membrane process is non-equilibrium and provides two reactive extractions in a single unit of operation. Liquid membrane system can be divided into three types as shown in Fig. 2.3.

2.4.1 Supported liquid membrane (SLM)

SLM employs the polymeric porous supports for imbedding the liquid membrane phase inside pores by capillary force (Schulz, 1988). The interaction between the liquid membrane phase and porous supports makes liquid membrane stable and fixed. There are two types of supports classified based on water affinity: hydrophilic and hydrophobic. Hydrophilic support is able to load the aqueous liquid membrane phase inside while hydrophobic support, which is most used, sinks the organic liquid membrane phase and hardly bind any aqueous solutions. Polymeric porous supports can be fabricated into various shapes, for example, flat sheet, spiral-wound and hollow fiber. Each shape provides different properties and applications represented in Table 2.3.



Figure 2.3 Liquid membrane systems: supported liquid membrane (SLM), emulsion liquid membrane (ELM) and bulk liquid membrane (BLM). F is the feed phase, M is the liquid membrane phase and S is the stripping phase (Kislik, 2010)

Table 2.3 Comparison between different polymeric porous supports (Lothongkum etal., 2011)

Properties	Flat sheet	Spiral wound	Hollow fibers
Manufacturing cost	High	High	Moderate
Resistance to fouling	Good	Moderate	Poor
Parasitic pressure drop	Low	Moderate	High
Properties	Flat sheet	Spiral wound	Hollow fibers
-----------------------------	------------	--------------	---------------
High pressure operation	Difficult	Yes	Yes
Limit to specific membranes	No	No	Yes

 Table 2.3 Comparison between different polymeric porous supports (continued)

Hollow-fiber supported liquid membrane (HFSLM) module as shown in Fig. 2.4 was applied in this work. HFSLM consists of paralleled hollow fibers loaded in a cylinder module. Inside and outside of hollow fibers are referred to as the tube and shell sides, respectively. In this research, the feed phase was fed into tube side and the stripping phase was fed into shell side under countercurrent flow condition. The HFSLM has many advantages including high rate of mass transfer per unit volume, high selectivity, ability to separate solute from very dilute solution, high volume ratio of feed solution to stripping solution, ability to apply with suspension, low fixed and maintenance cost, ease of scaling up and adaptability to different solutes, extractants and stripping agents (Parhi, 2002; Prakorn and Ura, 2003).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 2.4 (a) HFSLM module (b) countercurrent flow configuration of HFSLM (Prakorn and Ura, 2003)

2.4.2 Emulsion liquid membrane (ELM)

The liquid membrane system becomes emulsion in ELM. Feed solution is a continuous phase and extractant solution or liquid membrane phase is a dispersion phase, which encapsulates stripping solution (Fig. 2.3). To prepare ELM, stripping solution is added to a mixture of an extractant and a surfactant. After homogenizing, the first prepared emulsion is then poured into feed solution causing the occurrence of double emulsion. There are two types of double emulsion applied to ELM: water in oil in water (w/o/w) and oil in water in oil (o/w/o). Both types of double emulsion

needs two kinds of surfactants, hydrophilic and hydrophobic surfactants, in order to stabilize a drop of aqueous and organic solutions.

2.4.3 Bulk liquid membrane (BLM)

BLM contains three phases of bulk solution (Fig. 2.3). Feed phase and stripping phases are isolated by bulk liquid membrane phase or may be additionally separated by liquid membrane-embedding porous supports. Because of the inefficiency of the conventional BLM, hybrid liquid membrane (HLM), flowing liquid membrane (FLM), membrane contactor systems and multimembrane hybrid system (MHS) are being developed to overcome drawbacks of the conventional BLM technology (Kislik et al., 2010).

2.5 Extractant types

Extractants or carriers can be divided into three types based on their functional groups: (1) acidic extractant (-COOH, =POOH,-SO₃H and chelating groups) (2) basic extractant (-NH₂, -NRH, -NR₂ and R₄N⁺) and (3) Neutral or solvating extractant (PO(OR)₃ and R₄PO).

GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Acidic extractants effectively form complexes with cations while basic extractants strongly bind to anions. Chelating groups including β -diketones, hydroxyoximes, 8-hydroxyquinolones and alkylphosphorous compounds are remarkably selective extractants able to improve the selectivity of liquid membrane systems. A problem of using basic extractants is the presence of the third phase caused by the association of amines according to Eq. (2.1). To deal with this problem, a modifier, such as long-chain aliphatic alcohol is added into the liquid membrane phase (Tavlarides et al., 1987). For the neutral or solvating extractant, negative polarity of molecules plays an important role in extracting cations although there is no negative charge.

$$R_{3}N^{+}HA^{-}+R_{3}N^{+}HA^{-}\leftrightarrow (R_{3}N^{+}HA^{-})_{2}+R_{3}N^{+}HA^{-}\leftrightarrow (R_{3}N^{+}HA^{-})_{n}$$
(2.1)

Some commercial extractants are listed in Table 2.4 and chemical structures of four extractants (i.e. Aliquat 336, Alamine 336, D2EHPA and TBP) used in this work are illustrated in Fig. 2.5.

Extractant type	Example	Functional group
Acidic	D2EHPA	-РООН
	Crown ethers	-0-
	Neodecanoic acid	-COOH
	Cyanex 272	-POOH
	LIX 63	Hydroxyoxime
	Kelex-100	Hydroxyquinolone
Basic	Aliquat 336	$R_4 N^+$
	Alamine 336	$-NR_2$
	Amberlite LA-2	-NRH
	Primene JMT	-NH ₂
Neutral or	Tributyl phosphate (TBP)	PO(OR) ₃
solvating	Tri-n-octylphosphine oxide (TOPO)	R ₄ PO

Table 2.4 Examples of commercial extractants



Figure 2.5 Chemical structures of extractant used in this research: (a) Aliquat 336 (b) Alamine 336, (c) D2EHPA and (d) TBP

2.5.1 Aliquat 336

Aliquat 336 or a mixture of trioctyl- and decyl-ammonium chloride is yellowish viscous liquid insoluble in water. Aliquat 336 has a permanent positive charge and able to form complexes with anions over a wider range of pH than primary, secondary and tertiary amine and yet does not deprotonate that leads to the difficulty of stripping compared to other amine reagents (Saeed et al., 2009). As a basic extractant, the extraction occurs through the ion-pair formation. The applications of aliquat 336 are listed as follows:

- Extraction of vanadium, chromium, rare earth, rhenium, arsenic, tungsten, cadmium, zinc, cobalt, gold and copper (Fontàs et al., 1999; Wassink et al., 2000; El-Nadi et al., 2009; Stojanovic et al., 2011)
- Synergistic extraction of zirconium and hafnium with TBP (Wang et al., 2014)
- Extraction of organic acids such as itaconic, propionic, acrylic, butyric, lactic and 6-aminopenicillanic acids (Yang et al., 1991; Bora et al., 1997; Keshav et al., 2008)
- Removal of phenol from waste stream (Rao et al., 2009)
- Phase transfer catalysis for etherification and esterification reactions (Yang and Lin, 2003)

2.5.2 Alamine 336

Alamine reagents compose of a basic nitrogen potentially forming amine salts with different kinds of inorganic and organic matters. Eq. (2.2) and (2.3) represent the extraction reactions of alamine series where R_3N is a tertiary amine and R is an alkyl group (Saeed et al., 2009).

$$[R_3N]_{org} + [HA]_{aq} \leftrightarrow [R_3H^+A^-]_{org}$$
(2.2)

$$[R_{3}H^{+}A^{-}]_{org} + [B^{-}]_{aq} \leftrightarrow [R_{3}H^{+}B^{-}]_{org} + [BA^{-}]_{aq}$$
(2.3)

Alamine 336, a water insoluble trioctylamine, is tertiary amine capable of being stripped by a wide variety of stripping agents such as NaCl, Na_2CO_3 and $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ or inorganic salts deprotonating the amine. Alamine 336 has been effectively applied in several fields:

Separation of vanadium, cobalt, nickel, chromium, iron, uranium, platinum, tungsten, copper and molybdenum (Coca et al., 1990; Marchese et al., 1995; Kumar et al., 2010; Pim et al., 2014)

- Extraction of organic acids such as gluconic, citric, succinic and lactic acids (Juang and Huang, 1996; Inci, 2002; Wasewar et al., 2002)
- Recovery of mineral acids from process discharge (Eyal and Canari, 1995)

2.5.3 Di-(2-ethylhexyl)-phosphoric acid (D2EHPA)

D2EHPA is an organophosphorous compound, which can deprotonate to form anion depending on pH of the interfacial aqueous phase. D2EHPA appears as the hydrogenbonded dimer in the organic phase. The extraction by using D2EHPA facilitates coordination with non-deprotonated solutes which require low-pH environment to avoid deprotonation while the presence of concentrated hydrogen ion reduces the extraction efficiency of D2EHPA. Thus, to overcome this problematic issue, the continual neutralization with bases during extraction or pretreatment of D2EHPA with NaOH or ammonia is suggested ("Chemorex D2EHPA"). The contamination of mono-(2ethylhexyl)phosphoric acid (M2EHPA) in commercial D2EHPA at about 5% wt is considered the cause of lower degree of extraction, so other organophosphorous additives (e.g. TBP, trioctylphosphine oxide and dibutylbutyl phosphonate) are usually added to suppress that effect (Saeed et al., 2009). D2EHPA has been employed in following applications:

HULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

- Recovery of uranium, zinc, beryllium, cobalt, iron, nickel, silver and rare earth metals (Devi et al., 1998; Sakhalkar, 2002; Wongsawa et al., 2015)
- Separation of amino acids such as phenylalanine, tryptophan, aspartic and glutamic acid (Juang and Wang, 2002)
- Sorbent additive for solid-phase extraction (Kolev et al., 2009)

2.5.4 Tributyl phosphate (TBP)

TBP is one of the first phosphorous-based extractants commercially launched by Union Carbide (U.S.), Albright & Wilson (U.K.) and Daihachi Chemicals Co.

(Japan). Despite of being a neutral extractant, TBP is rather basic and forms complexes through coordinating, replacing waters and ion association. The limitations of solvating extractant are resulted by competitive extraction with anions, low solubility of organo-solute complexes in the diluent (Saeed et al., 2009). TBP has many commercial applications detailed as follows:

- Recovery of plutonium, thorium and uranium for reprocessing in nuclear plant (Pan et al., 1960; Baumgaertner and Finsterwalder, 1970)
- Recovery of molybdenum, tungsten, arsenic, platinum, iridium, chromium, titanium and gold (Wilson and Jacobs, 1961; Faye and Inman, 1963; De and Rahaman, 1964; Sato et al., 1990; Allal et al., 1997)
- Extraction of organic acids such as propionic, acetic, glycolic, lactic, pyruvic, butyric acids (Hano et al., 1990; Matsumoto et al., 2001)
- Synergist or phase modifier (Matsumoto et al., 2001)

2.6 Transport mechanisms in liquid membrane

There are six proposed transport mechanisms for describing how a solute is transferred through a liquid membrane with the graphic illustration of the mechanisms presented in Fig. 2.6 (Kislik et al., 2010). They are (1) simple transport (2) simple transport together with stripping reaction (3) facilitated transport (4) couple-counter transport (5) couple cotransport and (6) active transport

2.6.1 Simple transport

A solute molecule crosses the liquid membrane based on the different solubility associated with different phases. The solute is assumed to be in the same form in all phases due to no presence of chemical reaction. Once reaching equilibrium, concentration gradient becomes zero, resulting in the termination of transport process. To drive the remained solute in feed phase or uphill transport, stripping reaction with a stripping agent is necessary. Facilitated or carrier-mediated transport involves partitioning, complexation and diffusion. Firstly, a solute from feed dissolves in liquid membrane and reacts with an extractant to from complex. The complex diffuses through the liquid membrane and reacts with stripping agent, allowing solute portioning in the stripping phase. Facilitated and simple transport can occur simultaneously with facilitated transport accelerating the over mass transfer rate.



Figure 2.6 Transport mechanisms in the liquid membrane: (a) simple transport (b) simple transport together with stripping reaction (c) facilitated transport (d) coupled-counter transport (e) coupled cotransport (f) active transport. F is feed phase, M is liquid membrane phase and S is stripping phase; D is solute to be recovered; A are anions cotransported; E is extractant; red is reduction; oxi is oxidation. (Kislik et al., 2010)

2.6.3 Coupled counter- or cotransport

Depending on the acidity of liquid membrane system and the type of solute as well as extractant, coupled counter- or cotransport can be established. For couple counter-transport, ions carrying the same charge counter-currently flow through the liquid membrane system. On the contrary, the stoichiometric amount of opposite charged ions flow in the same direction to maintain the overall charge balance. Facilitated transport is always combined with coupled counter- or cotransport.

2.6.4 Active transport

Active transport refers to redox, catalytic reactions and biochemical conversions at the membrane interfacial surface resulted in higher selectivity. Almost all chemical reactions of active transport are irreversible.

2.7 Separation of β-lactam antibiotics through liquid membrane

In accordance with the reactive extraction studies of a β -lactam antibiotic published between 1980s and 1990s (Reschke and Schügerl, 1984; Harris et al., 1990; Hano et al., 1992; Bora et al., 1997), the developments in liquid membrane separation of β lactam antibiotics emerged during late 1990s, pioneered by Regional Research Laboratory in India. At the beginning, the exploitation of liquid membrane was primarily to purify and concentrate the antibiotics produced by fermentation process without capital and energy intensive. Ghosh et al. (1996) proposed the perspective on the applicability of the liquid membrane process to separate Cephalosporin-C, the first generation of β -lactam antibiotics, from fermentation broth. The conventional methods to recover Cephalosporin-C including chromatographic and chemical processes were claimed less competitive than the operation of liquid membrane which provided low capital, operating costs, energy consumption and compact unit. The research teams of Dutta demonstrated the usage of various types of liquid membranes, i.e. bulk liquid membrane (BLM), emulsion liquid membrane (ELM), and hollow fiber supported liquid membrane (HFSLM), for separating Cephalosporin-C from fermentation broth with and without cell of Cephalosporium acremonium (Ghosh et al., 1995; Sahoo et al., 1999; Sahoo et al., 2000). The investigation of several factors, including concentration of extractant, stirring speed, chloride concentration in stripping phase and solute chemical nature, was conducted (Findings summarized in Table 2.5) and the mathematical model of Cephalosporin-C concentration profile was also introduced. Acid dissociation constants of Cephalosporin-C involved in the consideration of ionic forms of drug molecules and separation efficiency in these articles. The first attempt to selectively separate Cephalosporin-C and its excess precursors was shown in Sahoo et al. (2000) where Cefalothin, Cefazolin, Cefotaxim, Cefadroxil, Cefaloridin, 7-aminocephalosporanic acid and 7aminodesacetoxycephalosporanic acid (7-ADCA) was individually employed in BLM and their initial flux with hydrophobicity was compared. The multiple component mixture of Cephalexin, 7-ADCA, phenylglycine amide (PGA) and phenylglycine (PG) was then employed to study the selective separation by using SLM with strip dispersion (Vilt and Ho, 2010). The SLM with strip dispersion may help compensate for a major disadvantage or membrane instability of liquid membrane technology. Continuous organic phase was fed and recycled through a hollow fiber module to maintain membrane stability. Vilt and Ho (2010) investigated the effect of feed, extractant and stripping concentrations, types of buffer solution, pH of feed and strip solution as well as module specification on the separation factor.

Besides the intention to purify the β -lactam antibiotics, the integration of liquid membrane and fermentation process offered the benefit of in-situ removal of the biosynthetic products, consequently minimizing the product inhibition. Cascaval et al. (2000) established the selective extraction conditions of Penicillin V from phenoxyacetic acid using BLM and Amberlite LA-2 as a carrier due to the toxicity of Penicillin V toward strains. The conditions to be considered were pH gradient between feed and stripping phases, concentration of Amberlite LA-2 and rotational speed. Despite the increase of permeability factors across liquid membrane when the pH gradient was larger, the efficiency of selective separation was diminished. The authors suggested using of low extractant concentration and strong mixing of the feed solution.

The application of liquid membrane to determine of four β -lactam residues, namely ampicillin, cloxacillin, penicillin V and penicillin G, in animal tissues and foodstuffs was introduced by Msagati and Nindi (2007). SLM was reported as a sample purification and enrichment method in flow systems connecting to high performance liquid chromatography coupled to a mass spectrophotometer. Donor and acceptor pH were optimized. The detection limits were revealed lower than the tolerance levels of the European Union (EU) and the American Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Msagati and Nindi (2007) indicated the necessity to monitor the degree of antibiotic contamination in food products to suppress the emergence of bacterial resistance to the antibiotics in humans. Similarly, the presence of β -lactam antibiotic from industrial wastewater in the aquatic environment induces the bacterial resistance and subsequent adverse human health effects. The potential of liquid membrane process for β -lactams removal from the discharge became promising based on satisfying results from former applications. Pirom et al. (2014) and Pirom et al. (2015) conducted the research on the separation of amoxicillin from synthetic pharmaceutical wastewater via hollow fiber supported liquid membrane (HFSLM) and studied the influence of aqueous acidity, concentrations of amoxicillin, extractant and stripping solution, flow rates and temperature on the separation performance. Nearly 90% of amoxicillin extraction percentage and 85% of stripping percentage were observed by using single extractant system of aliquat 336 and recycle mode of operation. Main conditions and conclusions of mentioned articles were reviewed and illustrated in Table 2.5.

embrane	
quid m	
ih li	
throug	
antibiotics	
b-lactam	
fβ	
Ö	
separation	
oD	
review	
Literature	
S	
2	
le	

Findings	 Permeation rate of Cephalosporin-C reached a maximum at certain concentration of Aliquat 336 and decreased with increasing concentration of extractant. The increase of chloride concentration in feed solution suppressed permeability coefficient of the drug due to lower Cl concentration gradient or driving force of counter transport. Predicted permeability coefficient was always higher than the experimental value by 10-15% when concentration of Aliquat 336 was maintained below 800 mol/m³ while the theoretical prediction was uncertain for higher
Extractant solution	Aliquat 336 (From 5 to mol/m ³) in butyl acetate
Stripping solution	Acetate buffer solution (pH 4.0) with 5 mol/cm ³ acetate and 20 - 200 mol/cm ³ chloride ion
Feed solution	10 mol/m ³ Cephalosporin-C in carbonate buffer solution (pH 10.0) with 5 - 80 mol/m ³ chloride ion
Type of liquid membrane	SLM
Author	Ghosh et al., 1995

paration of β -lactam antibiotics through liquid membrane (continued)	
Literature review on separation	
Table 2.5	

Findings	concentration of Aliquat 336. • Less than unity of the surface tension of the liquid solution over the critical surface tension of the microporous support ascertained the wettability of the support by the extractant solution.	 <u>BLM</u> With cell mass, the transport rate and degree of extraction of Cephalosporin-C decreased compared to the synthetic buffer solution and cell-free broth. Under liquid membrane extraction condition, cell viability was zero but β-lactam inhibitory activity was lowered
Extractant solution		BLM5-20 mol/m³Aliquat 336 in butyl acetateELM10% v/v Span-80and 1-2.5% v/v Aliquat 336 in
Stripping solution		Citrate buffer solution (pH 5.0) and 1 M NaCl
Feed solution		<u>BLM</u> Fermentation broth using a strain of <i>C</i> . <i>acremonium</i> MTCC 886 (pH 9.0) <u>ELM</u> Filtered Fermentation broth
Type of liquid membrane		BLM and ELM (W/O emulsion)
Author		Sahoo et al., 1999

(p
nue
nti
<u>(co</u>
ne
bra
em
l m
luic
lig
ugh
ILOI
s tł
otic
bid
anti
am
Ę,
ac
β-lac
of β-lac
on of β-lac
ration of β -lac
sparation of β-lac
n separation of β -lac
v on separation of β -lac
iew on separation of β -lac
review on separation of β-lac
are review on separation of β-lac
rature review on separation of β -lac
iterature review on separation of β-lac
. Literature review on separation of β -lac
2.5 Literature review on separation of β -lac
le 2.5 Literature review on separation of β -lac
able 2.5 Literature review on separation of β -lac

Author	Type of liquid membrane	Feed solution	Stripping solution	Extractant solution	Findings
		in carbonate buffer (pH 9.5)		heptane : kerosene (1:1)	• The increase of stirring speed provided higher extraction and stripping rate implying that, for BLM, the interfacial ion exchange reactions were not the limiting step. <u>ELM</u>
					• The permeation rate increased with increasing Aliquat 336 concentration but, at high concentration of Aliquat 336 and Span-80, the mixture became gel and the separation of internal and external phases seemed difficult.
					• The extraction and stripping rate rose when stirring speed climbed up to 450 rpm.
Sahoo et al., 2000	BLM	Cephalosporin molecules in phosphate buffer	Citrate buffer solution (pH 5.0)	10 mM Aliquat 336 in butyl acetate	• The hydrophobicity of solutes and the initial flux across liquid membrane were strongly related in that the higher hydrophobicity the

		-	ſ	-	×.
uthor	Type of liquid membrane	Feed solution	Stripping solution	Extractant solution	Findings
		solution (pH 8.0)			cephalosporin molecule had, the faster the molecule was extracted.
ascaval et , 2000	BLM	0.5 g/L Penicillin V and 0.22 g/L phenoxyacetic acid (pH 2.0 – 6.0)	5% Sodium carbonate solution (pH 7.0 – 11.0)	0 – 80 g/L Amberlite LA-2 in 1,2- dichloroethane	• The larger pH gradient brought about increasing permeability of both Penicillin V and phenoxyacetic acid but lowering selectivity factors.
					• 10 g/L Amberlite LA-2 provided the highest selectivity factor of 6.5 when rotation speed was 500 rpm as well as pH of feed and stripping phase were maintained at pH 3 and pH 10, respectively.
					• Under higher rotation speed (up to 1,000 rpm), the permeability of individual solutes and separation

Table 2.5 Literature review on separation of β-lactam antibiotics through liquid membrane (continued)

factor increased, strong mixing was thus suggested.

	sed with ceptor illin, enicillin	LC-MS, n xr than ual A.	ss ved the 'ery of	(99.0% Extra- 5%,
	icy increase or and acc or ampic n V and p ronment.	SLM with f β-lactam to be lowe num resid U and FD	was obser was used, and recov	i-Module i-Module vely) and % and 97.0
	on efficien both don instability i, penicilli cidic envii	porating S on limit o 'as found ted maxir osed by E	n higher o efficient i-Module extraction	n was con le for Min , respecti ule (98.9%
Findings	• Extraction increasing pH due to cloxacillir G in the av	• By incor the detecti residues w the stipula limits imp	Although transfer co when Min degree of	cepnalexi comparab and 97.8% Flow mod
÷	e and Ather		vt 36 and wt 1- n	
Extractan solution	Undecand di-n-hexy (1:1)		1.25-5%v Aliquat 3 0.6-2.5% decanol i	isopar L
	(pH 8-		and 0.1	с, рН 6.0)
Stripping solution	DI water 12)		1 M KCl M various buffers (e citrate,	pnospnate carbonate solution,]
	act dney lk ing h 1-8)		12 mM 80 mM mM M PGA	
d solution	ctam extra n liver, kii Le and mil pple by usi onitrile (p		inxture of halexin, 3 DCA, 15 and 60 m	(C.K-0.0
d Fee	β-la fron tissu sam acet		A m Cep 7-A PG	HID
Type of liquio membrane	SLM		SLM with strip dispersion	
Author	Msagati and Nindi, 2007		Vilt and Ho, 2010	

Table 2.5 Literature review on separation of β-lactam antibiotics through liquid membrane (continued)

36

respectively).

/	~
7	5
	<u>ה</u>
-	1
	=
į	Ξ
Ì	5
1	2
(D
-	Ē.
9	σ
	H
7	Ξ
1	
9	<u></u>
-	-
.,	1
- 1	⊐
(5
	-
7	50
,	⊒"
č	õ
1	Ē
÷	3
1	
2	3
• ;	Ĕ
1	Ξ.
••	ĭ
4	
-1	5
1	
($\overline{\sigma}$
5	
- 2	_
	÷.,
4	2
	Cla
10 0400	lacia
10.0400)-lacia
0 10 10 0400	p-lacta
£ 0 10 2401	n p-iacia
2 C 12 24 27	or p-racia
a af 0 leater	n oi p-iacia
an af 0 leater	on or p-lacia
4:f 0 14	поп от р-таста
ation of 0 lostor	апоп от р-таста
motion of 0 lostor	аганоп от р-таста
constinue of 0 losts	Daration of p-lacta
anontion of 0 lostor	eparation of p-facta
concretion of 0 loster	separation of p-lacta
s compared on of 0 loster	n separation of p-facta
an comparison of 0 loster	on separation of p-facta
i an comonica of 0 loater	v on separation of p-lacta
an concretion of 0 loater	w on separation of p-lacta
and a concretion of 0 loston	ew on separation of p-lacta
im an concretion of 0 loster	view on separation of p-facta
ariant an comparation of 0 loster	eview on separation of p-facta
marian an comparison of 0 loster	review on separation of p-lacta
a mariane and concentration of 0 loster	e review on separation of p-lacta
no more on compared on of 0 1, atom	lle review on separation of p-facta
the action of a second of 0 loster	uure review on separation of p-lacta
ative actions on company of 0 1, 24 or	alure review on separation of p-lacta
and and and and and and all of 0 10 atom	stature review on separation of p-facta
temptine accience an conception of 0 loster	LETALUTE LEVIEW OIL SEPALALION OL P-LACIA
itemptine mariant an concentration of 0 loster	LICTALLICE LEVIEW OIL SEPALALIOU OL P-LACIA
Titometrue accione an conception of 0 leafer	LICTURE LEVIEW OIL SEPALATION OF PLACIA
I itemptine marrient on concention of 0 loster	• LITETATUTE TEVIEW OIL SEPARATION OF P-TACTA
E T iteration and and an according of 0 lost	. LITETATUTE TEVIEW OIL SEPARATION OF P-LACIA
	2.5 LILETALUTE LEVIEW OIL SEPARALIOU OI D-LACLA
	e 2.5 LILETALUTE LEVIEW OIL SEPARALIOU OI D-LACLA
1. 7 E I iteration and and and and a characterized of D 1. atom	DIE 2.5 LIUEIAUUTE LEVIEW OII SEPALAUOII UI P-IACIA
blog E I iteration continue contraction of 0 lost	IDIE 2.3 LITETATURE LEVIEW OII SEPARATION OI D-JACIA
Chlog F I itemetine meridene en compared of 0 loster	able 2.2 Literature review on separation of p-facta

Findings	• Extraction and stripping percentages of >99% were obtained by using 0.05 and 0.10 M carbonate buffers while phosphate buffer and continual titration with 2 M NaOH served poor extraction and recovery.	• At pH 8.0 which is the optimal pH for Cephalexin enzymatic synthesis, separation factors of 7-ADCA, PG and PDA were 6.3, 17.4 and 4.4, respectively.	• At pH above 8.0, the extraction of Cephalexin decreased due to coextraction of PG while the optimal extraction of
Extractant solution			
Stripping solution			
Feed solution			
Type of liquid membrane			
Author			

37

Cephalexin was observed at pH 9.5 providing that the feed solutions containing equimolar concentrations of 7-ADCA were used.

ings	318.15 K, the highest extraction entage and stripping percentage of 5% and 84.70% were observed, ectively.	e amoxicillin extraction exerted tetivation energy of 44.28 kJ/mol ying that the chemical reaction the limiting step of the mass sfer of amoxicillin.	e extraction of amoxicillin was othermic reaction revealed by the tive value of enthalpy change 58 kJ/mol).
Find	• At perc 89.6 resp	• Th the a impl was trans	• Th endc posi (24.2
Extractant solution	6 mM Aliquat 336 in 1-decanol		
Stripping solution	6 mM NaCl (pH 6.0)		
Feed solution	6 mM Amoxicillin (pH 8.0)		
Type of liquid membrane	HFSLM		
Author	Pirom et al., 2015		

Table 2.5 Literature review on separation of β-lactam antibiotics through liquid membrane (continued)

Note: HFSLM is hollow fiber supported liquid membrane, SLM is supported liquid membrane, BLM is bulk liquid membrane, and ELM is emulsion liquid membrane.

CHAPTER 3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This research can be classified into three main sections including the study of reactive liquid-liquid extraction of amoxicillin using single extractant, synergistic extraction of amoxicillin and operation of the HFSLM by employing the condition determined in the previous sections. Details of the experimental approach are described below.

3.1 Chemicals

Amoxicillin 500 mg capsules containing amoxicillin trihydrate were obtained from the Government Pharmaceutical Organization, Thailand. All chemicals, their purity and manufacturers are listed in Table 3.1. Chemicals were used without any pretreatment. Deionized water (DI water) was produced by filtering tab water through ThermoScientificTMBarnsteadTM EasypureTM II (ThermoScienticfic, USA) with the resistivity maintained at least 17.8 MΩ·cm.

าลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลั

Table 3.1 Lists of chemicals used in the experiment

Chemicals	Purpose	Purity (%wt)	Manufacturers
Acetic acid glacial	pН	99.8	Qrec Chemical Co.,
(CH ₃ COOH)	adjustment		Ltd., New Zealand
Alamine 336 (N(C ₈ H ₁₇) ₃)	Extractant	95 - 100	Cognis Thai Co., Ltd., Thailand

Chemicals	Purpose	Purity (%wt)	Manufacturers
Aliquat 336	Extractant	88.2 - 90.6	Sigma-Aldrich Co.,
$(N^{+}(CH_{3})(C_{8}H_{17})_{3}Cl^{-})$			Ltd., USA
Amoxicillin 500 mg capsule	Wastewater	n/a	Government
	preparation		Pharmaceutical
			Organization,
			Thailand
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phosphate	Extractant	≥95.0	Merck Co., Ltd.,
((C ₈ H ₁₉ O) ₂ PO ₂ H)			Germany
1-Decanol ($C_{10}H_{22}O$)	Diluent	≥99.0	Merck Co., Ltd.,
			Germany
Di-potassium hydrogen	Buffer	99.0	Ajax Finechem Pty
orthophosphate (K ₂ HPO ₄)			Ltd., Australia
Nitric acid (HNO ₃)	Membrane	65	Qrec Chemical Co.,
	Cleaning		Ltd., New Zealand
Orthophosphoric acid	Buffer	85	Carlo Erba Co., Ltd.,
(H ₃ PO ₄)			France
Potassium acetate	Buffer	99.0	Ajax Finechem Pty
(CH ₃ COOK)			Ltd., Australia

Table 3.1 Lists of chemicals used in the experiment (continued)

Manufacturers
Ajax Finechem Pty
Ltd., Australia
Ajax Finechem Pty
Ltd., Australia
Ajax Finechem Pty
Ltd., Australia
Acros Organics Co.,
Ltd., USA

Table 3.1 Lists of chemicals used in the experiment (continued)

3.2 Equipments

Utilized laboratory equipments and their manufacturers are listed in Table 3.2. Liqui-Cel[®] liquid/liquid membrane and module (Model X50, Hoechst Celanese Corporation, NC, USA) composed of pumping system, two rotameters and four pressure gauges (Fig. 3.1). Table 3.3 displays the specification of the Celgard[®] hollow fibers.

 Table 3.2 Lists of equipments and their manufacturers

Equipments	Manufacturers / suppliers
Multi-position magnetic stirrer	IKA, Malaysia
(RT 10 power IKAMAG [®])	

Equipments	Manufacturers / suppliers
C-MAG HS 7 Hot plate magnetic stirrer	IKA, Malaysia
Thermo Scientific TM Barnstead TM Easypure TM II	Fisher Scientific, USA
Ultrapure water purification systems	
S20 SevenEasy TM pH meter	Mettler Toledo, USA
Cary 60 UV-vis spectrophotometer	Agilent, USA
Lab pipette and pipette tips	Thermo Scientific, USA
Liqui-Cel [®] liquid/liquid extraction system	Hoechst Celanese
	Corporation, USA
Beaker	Duran, Germany
Magnetic bar	Suksapanpanit, Thailand
Volumetric cylinder	Duran, Germany
Plastic tip	Thermo Scientific, USA
Test tube tong	Suksapanpanit, Thailand
Dropper	Suksapanpanit, Thailand
Glass bottle	Suksapanpanit, Thailand
Volumetric flask	Duran, Germany

 Table 3.2 Lists of equipments and their manufacturers (continued)



Figure 3.1 Schematic drawing of hollow-fiber supported liquid membrane module (Lothongkum et al., 2011)

Table 3.3 Specification of hollow fibers membrane (Sunsandee et al., 2014)

Specification
Polypropylene
35,000
$2.4 \times 10^{-4} \text{ m}$
$3.0 \times 10^{-4} \text{ m}$
0.15 m
30 %
$3.0 \times 10^{-8} \text{ m}$
1.4 m^2
$2.93\times10^3\ m^2\!/m^3$
2.6
$0.0635 \text{ m} \times 0.2032 \text{ m}$
1 °C to 60 °C

3.3 Reactive liquid-liquid extraction of amoxicillin by single extractant

3.3.1 Effect of initial pH of amoxicillin solution

Synthetic pharmaceutical wastewater containing amoxicillin was prepared by dissolving an amoxicillin capsule into DI water under continuous stirring at 440 rpm for 1 h by using hot plate magnetic stirrer and adjusting the total volume to attain the final concentration of 1.37 mM (500 mg/L). After filtering the prepared solution through Whatman paper (average pore size 11 µm), the pH of the solution was adjusted to the desired values ranged from 2 to 12 by adding acetic acid glacial or ammonia solution. Extracting solvents were prepared by mixing the extractant (i.e., Aliquat 336, D2EHPA, Alamine 336 or TBP) in 1-decanol to attain the extractant concentration of 6 mM. Extraction experiment was performed in triplicates by magnetic stirring the equal volumes (5 mL) of amoxicillin solution and organic extractant for 3 h on the multi-position magnetic stirrer under the room temperature $(30 \pm 2 \text{ °C})$. Extraction systems were then kept idle and avoided from light exposure for the next 19 h to allow phase separation. Carefully withdraw the liquid in lower layer approximately 4 mL and analyze photometrically by using Cary 60 UV-Vis spectrophotometer at 272 nm (USP 35, 2012). The extraction percentage of amoxicillin was calculated using Eq. (3.1) (Kislik, 2012):

Extraction percentage (%) =
$$\left(\frac{[Amox]_o - [Amox]}{[Amox]_o}\right) \times 100$$
 (3.1)

where $[Amox]_0$ is the initial amoxicillin concentration in aqueous phase (mg/L); and [Amox] is the final amoxicillin concentration in aqueous phase after the completion of extraction process (mg/L).

3.3.2 Effect of extractant concentrations

The mixture containing amoxicillin and extractant (Aliquat 336, D2EHPA, Alamine 336 and TBP) was prepared according to the method presented in section 3.3.1. The pH of the mixture was maintained at the optimal value, which was determined according to section 3.3.1 while the concentrations of extractant were varied from 2 to 15 mM. Extraction experiment was conducted in triplicates for each extractant by continuous stirring at 440 rpm under room temperature ($30 \pm 2 \,^{\circ}$ C) for 3 h and then kept idle from light exposure for the additional 19 h. Lower liquid layer approximately 4 mL was obtained and analyzed for amoxicillin concentrations using Cary 60 UV-Vis spectrophotometer at 272 nm (USP 35, 2015). The extraction percentage of amoxicillin was calculated according to Eq. (3.1) (Kislik, 2012).

3.3.3 Effect of pHs of stripping solution

Amoxicillin solution (1.37 mM) was mixed with individual extractants in 1-decanol at the optimal pH and optimal extraction concentrations, which were the results of the section 3.3.1 and 3.3.2. The mixture containing amoxicillin and extractant (3 replications) was stirred at 440 rpm under room temperature $(30 \pm 2 \text{ °C})$ for 3 h and remained idle for another 4 h to allow liquids layers to separate. Organic phase was separated from aqueous phase by using a separation funnel. Separated organic phase was stirred at 440 pm with 6 mM potassium chloride (KCl) solution whose pH varied for 3 h at the room temperature in beakers (3 replications at each pH). All experimental units remained idle for another 12 h. Liquid samples (4 mL) from the stripping phase were obtained and analyzed for amoxicillin concentrations by using Cary 60 UV-Vis spectrophotometer at 272 nm (USP 35, 2012). The percentages of stripping were calculated according to Eq. (3.2) (van der Hoogerstraete et al., 2013).

Stripping percentage (%) =
$$\left(\frac{[Amox]_s}{[Amox]_o}\right) \times 100$$
 (3.2)

where $[Amox]_0$ is the initial concentration of amoxicillin in the extracted aqueous phase (mg/L); and $[Amox]_s$ is the final concentration of amoxicillin in the stripping aqueous phase (mg/L).

3.3.4 Effect of concentrations of stripping solution

Prepare amoxicillin solution and perform the reactive liquid-liquid extraction and stripping similar to the method described in the section 3.3.3 except that the concentrations of KCl stripping solution were varied from 2 to 10 mM. The pH of the stripping solution was maintained according to the result of the section 3.3.3. Amoxicillin concentrations were analyzed based on USP 35 (2012) and used to calculate the stripping percentage according to Eq. (3.2) (van der Hoogerstraete et al., 2013).

3.4 Synergistic extraction of amoxicillin

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย Hulalongkorn University

3.4.1 Synergistic extraction

An amoxicillin capsule was dissolved into DI water under continuous stirring at 440 rpm for 1 h on the hot plate magnetic stirrer and the total volume was subsequently adjusted to the final concentration of 1.37 mM. The prepared solution was filtered through Whatman paper (average pore size 11 μ m) before adding ammonia solution to attain the initial pH of 10. The binary mixture extractant systems of interest were (1) Aliquat 336 and D2EHPA (AqD), (2) Aliquat 336 and TBP (AqT), (3) D2EHPA and TBP (DT), (4) Alamine 336 and D2EHPA (AmD) and (5) Alamine 336 and TBP (AmT). The binary extractant systems were prepared to achieve the following molar ratios of 0:12, 3:9, 6:6, 9:3, 10:2 and 12:0 mM in 1-decanol. The equal volumes (5)

mL) of amoxicillin solution and extractant mixture (3 replicates) were mixed at 440 rpm for 3 h on multi-position magnetic stirrer under room temperature ($30 \pm 2 \,^{\circ}$ C) before being kept idle and avoided from light exposure for further 19 h to allow phase separation. Approximately 4 mL of the top liquid layer was carefully pipetted and analyzed by using Cary 60 UV-Vis spectrophotometer at 272 nm (USP 35, 2012). Eq. (3.1) was used to determine the extraction percentages. The concentration of amoxicillin in the organic phase was determined by mass balance calculation. According to Guezzen and Didi (2012), synergistic coefficient as shown in Eq. (3.3) can be used to quantify the magnitude of synergistic extraction of the binary extractant systems:

$$S = \frac{D_{1+2}}{D_1 + D_2}$$
(3.3)

where *S* is the synergistic coefficient of the system with a mixture of extractant 1 and 2; D_1 is the distribution coefficient of the system with extractant 1; D_2 is distribution coefficient of the system with extractant 2; and D_{1+2} is distribution coefficient of the system with a mixture of extractant 1 and 2. The distribution coefficient in Eq. 3.4 was defined as (Kislik, 2012)

$$D_{i} = \left(\frac{[Amox]_{org}}{[Amox]}\right)_{i} = \left(\frac{[Amox]_{o}-[Amox]}{[Amox]}\right)_{i}$$
(3.4)

where $[Amox]_{org}$ is the final amoxicillin concentration in extractant phase (mg/L); D_i is the distribution coefficient of amoxicillin extracted by using extractant *i* (i.e., Aliquat 336, D2EHPA, Alamine 336 and TBP). Synergism is established when S > 1 while S < 1 implies the occurrence of antagonistic effect and S = 1 suggests coextraction of extractants (Guezzen and Didi, 2012).

3.4.2 Effect of pH of stripping solution on the stripping percentage for synergistic extraction of amoxicillin

The amoxicillin solution was prepared and extracted using the optimal extractant mixture, which was determined in section 3.4.1. The organic phase was separated by a separating funnel and stirred with 6 mM KCl in acetate buffer whose pH was adjusted between the optimal pH, which was determined according to section 3.3.3 for the specific extractants. The mixture was then mixed in a beaker (3 replicates) at 440 rpm for 3 h at the room temperature. All experimental units remained idle for another 12 h before the liquid sample approximately 4 mL from the stripping phase was obtained and analyzed for amoxicillin concentrations by using Cary 60 UV-Vis spectrophotometer at 272 nm (USP 35, 2012). Eq. (3.2) was applied to calculate the stripping percentage.

3.4.3 Effect of concentrations of stripping solution on the stripping percentage for synergistic extraction of amoxicillin

The amoxicillin solution was prepared, extracted and stripped using the optimal conditions, which obtained based on the previous sections except that the concentrations of KCl stripping solution were varied between the optimal concentrations reported in section 3.3.4. Approximately 4 mL of liquid from the stripping phase was collected and analyzed for amoxicillin concentrations by using Cary 60 UV-Vis spectrophotometer at 272 nm (USP 35, 2012). The stripping percentage was calculated according to Equation (3.2).

3.5 Operation of HFSLM

3.5.1 Preparation of HFSLM

A mixture of AqT was dissolved in 1-decanol by maintaining molar ratio of Aliquat 335 and TBP at 10:2 mM. The binary extractant mixture was fed into the HFSLM system as illustrated in Fig. 3.2 for at least 90 minutes to ensure that the extractant solution was fully embedded into pores of the membrane due to capillary force. Excess amount of extractant solution was flushed out of the hollow membrane system by feeding deionized water into both tube and shell sides. The differences between the fresh and flushed extractant solution corresponded to the total volume of pores inside hollow fibers membrane.





Figure 3.2 HFSLM scheme during the startup in which the extractant solution was fed into the system to form liquid membrane while the DI water was flushed to remove the excess extractant solution: (1) the HFSLM module (2) extractant solution/DI water container (3) magnetic stirrers (4) gear pumps (5) rotameters (6) inlet pressure gauges and (7) outlet pressure gauges

3.5.2 Effect of feed and stripping flow rate on the separation efficiency

Amoxicillin solution (1.37 mM) at the initial pH 10 and 6 mM KCl in acetate buffer solution at pH 5 were prepared and fed countercurrently into the hollow fiber membrane system at the tube and shell sides, respectively. Two sets of the HFSLM were used as the controls, employing 10 mM of Aliquat 336 or 2 mM of TBP as the extractants. Another set of HFSLM was assigned as the treatment, which employed the binary mixture that yield the best synergistic extraction as the extractant. The

flow rates for both feed and stripping streams were identical and varied from 62.5 to 200 mL/min. The experiment was carried out at room temperature $(30 \pm 2 \text{ °C})$ until the system reached the steady state, which was indicated by relatively constant outlet concentrations. Fig. 3.3 illustrates the diagram of the HFSLM system used in this experiment. Liquid sample (4 mL) from the outlets of amoxicillin feed and stripping stream were obtained and analyzed for amoxicillin concentrations using Cary 60 UV-Vis spectrophotometer at 272 nm (USP 35, 2012) and chemical oxygen demand (COD) based on the open reflux method 5220-B (APHA, 1998). The extraction and stripping percentages at any points of time are calculated according to Eq. (3.1) and (3.2), respectively. The steady-state extraction and stripping percentages were statistically analyzed by the nonlinear regression using Minitab 16.







CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Reactive liquid-liquid extraction of amoxicillin by single extractant

Amoxicillin can exist in positive and neutral forms according to the first and second acid dissociation constants (i.e., $pKa_1 = 2.68$ and $pKa_2 = 7.49$). However, our literature review indicated that the information on amoxicillin extraction by the positive and neutral charged extractants were not widely available. In this study, KCl was chosen as stripping solution but the data on suitable pH and concentration to be used during amoxicillin recovery remained limited.

4.1.1 Effect of initial pH of amoxicillin solution

The reactive liquid-liquid extraction of amoxicillin solution was carried out by using 6 mM of single extractant (Aliquat 336, D2EHPA, TBP and Alamine 336) dissolved in 1-decanol. The range of pH chosen, which varied from 2 to 12, covered the entire range of acid dissociation constants of amoxicillin ($pKa_1 = 2.68$, $pKa_2 = 7.49$ and $pKa_3 = 9.63$). 1-Decanol was chosen as the diluent in this study due to its non-toxic nature as food additive (US FDA, 2014). Fig. 4.1 illustrates the results of the reactive liquid-liquid extraction at different pH of amoxicillin solution. 1-Decanol did not interfere with amoxicillin extraction because it demonstrated insignificant extraction percentage at less than 1%. The extraction percentages increased when the pH of amoxicillin solution was raised to 10 before remained relatively constant or decreased slightly depending on the types of extractant used. The extraction percentages for Aliquat 336 were observed within the range from 1 to 5% when the pH of amoxicillin solution was between 2 and 6. The extraction percentages for Aliquat 336 showed the maximum value of $68.2 \pm 1.54\%$ when the initial pH of amoxicillin solution was related to the

presence of mainly negative-charged amoxicillin at pH greater than 7.49 that strongly attracted to the quaternary ammonium cation through ion-pair formation. Similar explanation can be applied for the amoxicillin extraction by Alamine 336 in which the highest extraction percentage ($17.4 \pm 2.95\%$) was also reported when maintaining the initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10. Alamine 336, a tertiary amine, seemed to express weaker positive polarity than Aliquat 336, which possesses a positive charge regardless of the pH of the solution (Rao et al., 2009).

D2EHPA was present mainly in negative form when the pH of the solution was greater than 2.75 (Ulewicz and Walkowiak, 2005). Protonation of D2EHPA occurred at the interface between aqueous and organic phases after its dimer configuration was broken out (Gajda and Bogacki, 2007). The results of reactive liquid-liquid extraction of amoxicillin using D2EHPA as extractant revealed two peaks of extraction percentage at pH 3 and 10 (Fig. 4.1). These peaks corresponded to the extraction percentages of $13.2 \pm 1.79\%$ and $30.4 \pm 2.54\%$, respectively. The extraction percentage associated with pH 3 was possibly caused by the ion-pair formation of phosphoryl anions and positive-charged amoxicillin (Pursell et al., 2003). The extraction percentages remained low at $1.6 \pm 1.62\%$ despite reducing pH of the amoxicillin solution from 3 to 2. This observation was likely explained based on the existence of deprotonated D2EHPA molecule that limited the formation of chemical complex via ion-pair route. When the pH of amoxicillin solution increased from 4 to 7, the total charge of amoxicillin gradually shifted towards neutral and then negative so that the phosphoryl anions of D2EHPA were unable to attract amoxicillin molecules effectively, hence resulting in low extraction percentages at roughly 5%. As the pH continued to increase, the existing phosphoryl anions and negative-charged amoxicillin should repel with each other but surprisingly the experimental results revealed the significant increase of extraction percentages as high as $30.4 \pm 2.54\%$ at pH 10. It was possible that the two anions formed the chemical complexes based on solvation mechanism that consequently partitioned into organic phase (Hamdo, 2011). It should be pointed out that the cloud layer, which was immiscible layer to either organic or aqueous phases, was observed for the extraction systems involving

D2EHPA at high pH (Fig. 4.2). Formation of this immiscible layer might obstruct amoxicillin molecules from entering the organic phase (Kedari et al., 2005).

Extraction percentage of amoxicillin by TBP was low and relatively constant measured at $5.6 \pm 3.15\%$ for the pH range tested (Fig. 4.1) although TBP was reported as a good extractant for organic acids (Keshav et al., 2008; Kumar and Babu, 2009; Wasewar et al., 2011). Low extraction performance by TBP relative to Aliquat 336 could be linked to the ability of TBP that suited the extraction of neutral undissociated molecules while Aliquat 336 can extract both dissociated and undissociated forms (Canari and Eyal, 2003; Wasewar et al., 2011).



Figure 4.1 Extraction percentages of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of single extractant dissolved in 1-decanol with different initial pHs of amoxicillin solution


Figure 4.2 Crud formation during amoxicillin extraction by D2EHPA

4.1.2 Effect of extractant concentrations

Amoxicillin extraction was carried out by varying the concentrations of extractant from 2 to 15 mM while maintaining the initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10. The results as shown in Fig. 4.3 indicated that Aliquat 336 was the most efficient extractant followed by D2EHPA, TBP and Alamine 336. The extraction percentage by Aliquat 336 increased rapidly with increasing extractant concentrations, reaching approximately 85% at 12 mM before remaining relatively constant. Similar observation was noted for D2EHPA, TBP and Alamine 336 except that the rate of increase was significantly slower. The extraction percentages for D2EHPA, TBP and Alamine 336 also stabilized when the extractant concentrations were greater than 12 mM. The increase of extraction percentages with respect to increasing extractant concentrations could be explained by the forward shifting of reaction according to Le Châtelier's principle when excess reactants (i.e., extractants) were added before reestablishing equilibrium. The different rising rate of extraction percentages with concentration of extractants can be explained by the mole ratio between amoxicillin and extractants participating in chemical complexes found in chemical equilibrium study detailed in Appendix D. The number of extractant taking part in complexation with one mole of amoxicillin (n) of Aliquat 336, D2EHPA and Alamine 336 were

1.40, 0.53 and 0.30, respectively. This revealed that the concentration change of Aliquat 336 had the highest impact on the value of equilibrium complexation constant (K_E) and the system opposed that change by shifting reaction forward or reverse. When concentration of Aliquat 336 which is a denominator of K_E goes up, reaction quotient falls down and the reaction would shift forward resulted in further increase of chemical complexes concentration. The higher n value is, the more concentration of chemical complexes was shifted. This is the reason why Fig. 4.3 shows the order of increasing rate of extraction percentage: Aliquat 336 > D2EHPA > Alamine 336. Equation D.19 was invalid for the complexation between TBP and amoxicillin ($R^2 = 0.1481$ and negative sign of K_E) implying other set of complexation reactions which required out-of-scope complicated experimental design to examine.



Figure 4.3 Extraction percentages of amoxicillin subjected to different extractant concentrations given that the initial pH of amoxicillin solution was maintained at 10.

4.1.3 Effect of pH of stripping solution

Amoxicillin extraction was conducted by maintaining the initial pH of amoxicillin solution (1.37 mM) at 10 and the extractant concentrations at 12 mM. Liquid from organic layer was obtained and then stripped with 6 mM of KCl solution in potassium acetate buffer maintained at the pH ranged from 4 to 7. This pH range of the buffer solution was reported to improve the stability of recovered amoxicillin (Erah et al., 1997). KCl was employed as stripping solution instead of NaCl as reported in Pirom et al. (2014). It was postulated that larger K⁺ ions can enhance solubility of amoxicillin compared to smaller Na⁺ ions (Feng et al., 2006) while Lenzi et al. (1975) suggested that the presence of K⁺ ions was associated with lower ionic strength under the room temperature that led to higher water activity to solvate amoxicillin molecules.

The effect of pH of stripping solution on the stripping percentage for each extractant is displayed in Fig. 4.4. The decreasing trend of stripping percentages was observed with increasing pH for the system utilizing Aliquat 336, D2EHPA and TBP. Changing the charged property of amoxicillin to the opposite or neutral charges by increasing the pH of stripping solution caused the repulsion between amoxicillin and extractants and disruption of chemical complexes, and consequently pushed amoxicillin into stripping phase (Chuo et al., 2014). The highest stripping percentage were achieved by maintaining the acetate buffer at pH 5 ($36.7 \pm 1.0\%$) for Aliquat 336, at pH 4 (13.6 \pm 0.65%) for D2EHPA and at pH 3 (8.4 \pm 1.01%) for Alamine 336. For TBP, the highest stripping percentage $(5.3 \pm 1.06\%)$ was observed at pH 7 while the lower stripping percentages were determined at approximately 2%. It should be pointed out that the stripping percentages reported were calculated according to equation 3.3, which compared the amount of amoxicillin recovered in the stripping solution with that in the feed solution. By taking the amount of amoxicillin present in the extracted solution as the basis, the efficiency of amoxicillin recovery for TBP could be as high as 90%, which were significantly higher than the remaining extractants. Effective stripping of amoxicillin when using TBP as the extractant was possible because the chemical complexation between amoxicillin and TBP involved

weaker intermolecular interactions compared to that between amoxicillin and other extractants that is usually associated with stronger electrostatic forces.

4.1.4 Effect of KCl concentration

The concentrations of KCl stripping solution were varied from 2 to 10 mM during this study. The pH of stripping solution was maintained at 5 for each concentrations tested. For Aliquat 336, the highest amoxicillin stripping percentage was determined at $39.3 \pm 1.35\%$ when KCl concentrations increased from 2 to 4 mM (Fig. 3.5). The increase in concentrations of stripping agent shifted the stripping reaction forward through an increasing thermodynamic activity of potassium chloride. The stripping percentage of amoxicillin decreased considerably after KCl concentrations increased from 4 to 10 mM. This may be linked to increasing ionic strength and salting-out effect (Kislik, 2012). Higher salt concentrations in stripping phase caused the reduction of water activity in solvating amoxicillin molecules. In contrary, the stripping percentage of amoxicillin steadily decreased in the case of D2EHPA from $31.8 \pm 7.48\%$ to $14.0 \pm 3.54\%$ when applying higher KCl concentrations. Due to the downward trend of stripping percentage, the use of KCl as stripping agent should be cautious when D2EHPA was employed as extractant. For Alamine 336, the stripping percentage of amoxicillin was relatively constant at 7.0 \pm 7.48%, implying that changing KCl concentrations within the range studied had insignificant effect on stripping efficiency. For TBP, the stripping percentage was significantly lower than those of Aliquat 336 and D2EHPA with the maximum reported at $5.2 \pm 1.16\%$ when KCl concentrations was maintained at 6 mM



Figure 4.4 Stripping percentages of amoxicillin by using KCl as stripping solution at different pH. The stripping solution was maintained at 6 mM. Initial pH of amoxicillin solution was maintained at 10. Amoxicillin extraction was carried out by using 12 mM of Aliquat 336, D2EHPA, TBP and Alamine 336.





4.2 Synergistic extractant of Amoxicillin

Previous works have reported the improvement of extraction efficiency when using the mixture of extractants in comparison to that of the single extractant, the effect referred to as synergistic extraction (Singh et al., 2001; Belkhouche et al., 2005; Yunhai et al., 2011). Synergistic extraction is defined as the extraction by using the mixture of extractants that yielded the extractant efficiency exceeding that of individual extractant (Kislik, 2012). The extend of each component as indicated by the mole or mass ratio of each component in the mixture plays an important role in the effectiveness of synergistic extraction. In this section, the binary mixture made up from extractants including Aliquat 336, D2EHPA, TBP and Alamine 336 were examined for the feasibility of synergistic extraction of amoxicillin.

4.2.1 Synergistic extraction

Synergistic extraction of amoxicillin was conducted by using the binary extractants with different molar ratios. Total concentrations of the extractants and the initial pH of amoxicillin solution were based on the results of section 4.1. That is maintaining the total concentrations of extractants and the initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 12 mM and 10, respectively. Figure 4.6 demonstrates the results of extraction percentage and synergistic coefficient during the synergistic extraction by using the binary extractant mixture. For the AqD mixture, decreasing the concentrations of D2EHPA resulted in the increasing trend of extraction percentage with the highest value determined at 70.7 \pm 1.11% when the molar ratio of Aliquat 336 and D2EHPA was set at 10:2 (Fig. 4.6a). The maximum extraction percentage for AqD mixture was significantly lower than the result when Aliquat 336 was solely employed to extract amoxicillin, thereby suggesting that the synergistic extraction by means of using the AqD mixture was unlikely. This conclusion was confirmed by the magnitude of synergistic coefficient (S) less than 1 for all molar ratio combinations. The possible explanation for the antagonistic effect (S < 1.0) of amoxicillin extraction could be related to the metathesis reaction between Aliquat 336 and D2EHPA, releasing hydrochloric acid which highly disturbed the extraction of amoxicillin by blocking the active sites on the extractant (Blahusiak et al., 2011). The finding in the present study concurs with the results of Wang et al. (2014) who reported the decrease of overall extraction percentage when employing the AqD mixture as compared to the individual extractant to separate zirconium and hafnium from aqueous solution. In addition, it was reported that the separation of platinum (IV) from the diluted solution was negatively affected when the binary extractant mixture of AqD at the molar ratio of 1:5 was used (Lee et al., 2009).

DT mixture exhibited the synergistic effects on amoxicillin extraction as can be seen by the magnitudes of synergistic coefficient greater than 1.0 as well as the improved extraction percentages as compared to those from the single extracting system of D2EHPA or TBP (Fig. 4.6b). The extraction percentage increased sharply with increasing molar ratio and reached the maximum value of $52.6 \pm 1.53\%$ when maintaining the molar ratio of D2EHPA to TBP at 10:2 before starting to decrease. Guezzen and Didi (2012) speculated that the formation of DT complex containing the molecular linkage of the type RHO=P- accounted for the synergistic effect between D2EHPA and TBP. Other works also detected the formation of D2EHPA-TBP bonds by using FT-IR analysis and found the reduction of intensity in P=O vibration band, thereby suggesting the polymerization through hydrogen bonding between these two extractants, which may be the reason for synergism (Alamdari et al., 2004; Fatmehsari et al., 2009).

Synergist amoxicillin extraction was also observed for the AqT mixture as can be confirmed by the magnitude of synergistic coefficient greater than one (S = 1.45 to 1.84) for all molar ratio combinations (Fig. 4.6c). As a result, the optimal synergistic condition could be selected based on the magnitude of extraction percentage alone. The single extractant exhibited the extraction percentages of 86.2 ± 1.10% and 6.0 ± 3.36% for Aliquat 336 and TBP, respectively, whereas the use of AqT mixture resulted in the improved extraction performance with the highest extraction percentage reported at 90.4 ± 0.39% when maintaining the molar ratio at 10:2. It should also be pointed out that the minimum expense for chemicals was also associated with the optimal molar ratio as compared to the single extractant system and other molar ratio combinations. Observation of synergistic extraction can be described by the formation of bulky ion pair so-called the ion pair with solvating complexes (Gaikwad and Damodaran, 1990; Gaikwad, 2003).

Synergistic amoxicillin extraction was not observed for the cases of AmT and AmD mixtures since their synergistic coefficients were less than one (S = 0.51 to 0.71 for AmT and S = 0.62 to 0.81 for AmD). The results obtained for AmT mixture disagree with outcomes of previous researches, which reported the synergistic effect of AmT

carriers on the separation of Nb(V), zirconium(IV) and lactic acid (Mishra et al., 1989; Campderros and Marchese, 2001; Matsumoto et al., 2003). The possible reason might be related to different pH values and types of diluent used during the extraction in the current work. Synergistic extraction in the previous work mentioned seemed to require high acidity as well as excess chloride ions while the condition in our work was strongly basic. As for the antagonistic extraction of AmD mixture, similar explanation to the case of AqD could be applied. The acid-base interaction between Alamine 336 and D2EHPA was the likely cause of antagonism as suggested by Quinn et al. (2013). Another reason for low extraction percentage for the AqD mixture might be related to the impurity of commercial D2EHPA used in the experiment (Fatmehsari et al., 2009).



Figure 4.6 Extraction percentage and synergistic coefficient during synergistic extraction of amoxicillin by using binary mixtures: (a) AqD and (b) DT.



Figure 4.6 (continued) Extraction percentage and synergistic coefficient during synergistic extraction of amoxicillin by using binary mixtures: (c) AqT (d) AmT and (e) AmD

4.2.2 Effect of pH and KCl concentration on stripping performance for synergistic extraction of amoxicillin

Amoxicillin solution was extracted by using the AqT mixture prepared at the molar ratio of 10:2. Subsequently, amoxicillin in organic phase was stripped by using 6 mM KCl solution in potassium acetate buffer with pH varied from 5 to 7. The range of the studied pH was between the optimal pH values of stripping solution for individual component in the AqT mixture. The maximum stripping percentage of $34.2 \pm 0.62\%$ was observed when the pH of stripping solution was maintained at 5 (Fig. 4.7a). The stripping percentage reached the bottom and then slightly increased as the pH of stripping solution continued to rise. It should be noted that the highest stripping percentage for the system with AqT mixture as extractant was lower than that of the system using solely Aliquat 336 (36.7 ± 1.0%). This might be attributed to stronger interaction between amoxicillin and extractant during the chemical complexation and thus making it more difficult for the stripping solution to break down the existing chemical complexes.

The effect of KCl concentration on stripping percentage of amoxicillin was also investigated in for the AqT binary mixture. It can be seen from Fig. 4.7b that varying KCl concentrations from 2 to 10 mM did not significant effect the stripping percentage. The stripping percentage remained constant at about 34% with the best stripping percentage of $34.3 \pm 0.87\%$ observed when KCl concentrations were 6 mM. The optimal stripping percentage was smaller than that from using solely Aliquat 336. Despite obtaining lower stripping percentage when applying the AqT mixture as extractant, it should be emphasized that one of the goals of this research focused on the removal of amoxicillin from aqueous solution, that is trying to obtain high value of extracting percentage.



Figure 4.7 Stripping percentages of amoxicillin by using AqT mixture prepared at the molar ratio of 10:2 as the extractant: (a) varying the pH of 6 mM KCl stripping solution and (b) varying the concentrations of KCl stripping solution with the pH of KCl maintained at 5. The initial pH of amoxicillin solution was adjusted to 10.

4.3 **Operation of HFSLM**

ราลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

In this section, the effect of flow rates of feed and stripping streams was studied. Countercurrent flow configuration of the feed and stripping streams was used. Flow rates of feed and stripping streams were identical ranging from 62.5 to 200 mL/min. It was speculated that during the operation of HFSLM, amoxicillin molecules in the feed stream diffused across the interface between feed and liquid membrane phases due to concentration gradient and subsequently reacted with the mixture of AqT to form amoxicillin-AqT complexes dissolving in the liquid membrane phase. The existing complexes then diffused across the liquid membrane-stripping interface before interrupted by the stripping reaction, resulting in the dissolution of amoxicillin into the stripping stream. Figure 4.8 and 4.9 illustrate the extraction and stripping percentage of HFSLM during the steady state operation, which was indicated by the relatively constant parameters. The steady-state values of extraction and stripping percentages decreased from 31.8 to 20.2% and from 9.7 to 5.6%, respectively, when the flow rates were increased from 62.5 to 200 mL/min. The increase of flow rates reduced the liquid contact time for reactions although the overall film resistance to mass transfer was suppressed at higher flow rates. The estimated contact time of amoxicillin solution decreased from 6.51 to 2.04 ms when the flow rates increased from 62.5 to 200 mL/min. The time to reach steady state condition for extraction was about 25 min, which was 5 mins longer than the time required for the stripping to attain steady states. Low extraction and stripping performance observed in this work as compared to that of Pirom et al. (2014), whose work reported the extraction and stripping percentage of 85.21% and 80.34% with Aliquat 336 as the extractant, was likely linked to maintaining HFSLM in once-through mode. Relatively constant pH values at roughly 10 and 5 were measured at the outlets of feed and stripping streams, respectively. Constant pH profiles implied suitable condition for extraction and stripping of amoxicillin inside HFSLM.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure 4.8 Profiles of extraction percentages and pH during the operation of HFSLM at different flow rates. Countercurrent flow and once-through mode operation of HFSLM was used during the experiment.

69



Figure 4.9 Profiles of stripping percentages and pH during the operation of HFSLM at different flow rates. Countercurrent flow and once-through mode operation of HFSLM was used during the experiment.

The COD measurement was also carried out on the prepared amoxicillin solution, liquid membrane solution, treated solution by means of reactive liquid-liquid extraction and treated solution by means of HFSLM (feed outlet). The results, as presented in Table 4.1, indicated that COD concentration of prepared amoxicillin solution was decreased by 58.6% when reactive liquid-liquid extraction was applied while surprisingly HFSLM led to an increase of COD by 93% when maintaining the volumetric flow rates at 62.5 mL/min. The reason for increasing COD in feed outlet might be linked to the contamination of liquid membrane caused by liquid shear force. It was expected that the degree of contamination was likely to increase as the flow rates of the system were increased (Kislik et al., 2010). The remaining COD at the outlet of HFSLM may be further reduced by the method of phase separation where the

settled particles are removed as sludge and floatable liquid membrane is simultaneously separated from the discharge as scum.

Table 4.1 Chemical oxygen demand (COD) for amoxicillin solution, liquid

 membrane and treated solution.

Sample	COD (mg/L)
Amoxicillin solution	852
Liquid membrane (AqT mixture dissolved in decanol)	117,174
Extracted amoxicillin solution by liquid-liquid extraction using	354
AqT mixture as extractant	
Feed outlet of HFSLM (outlet of tube side) when the system was	1,644
maintained with flow rate of 62.5 mL/min	

Amoxicillin extraction with Aliquat and TBP as extractants was carried out in the HFSLM when the flow rates of the amoxicillin feed and stripping streams were 62.5 mL/min. HFSLM was operated countercurrently without recycle. The steady state performance of the HFSLM was illustrated in Fig. 4.11 and 4.12. At steady state condition, 10 mM of Aliquat 336 and 2 mM of TBP yielded the extraction percentages of 23.8% and 1.6%, respectively. The synergistic coefficient of 1.42 was determined when the liquid membrane phase was AqT mixture at the molar ratio of 10:2. The magnitude of synergistic coefficient was lower than that found during the equilibrium batch extraction (S = 1.61) by 11.8% possibly due to a lack of contact time suppressing the possibility of bulky ion-pair formation between amoxicillin and AqT. According to Fig. 4.12, the steady state stripping percentages of 8.4% and 1.1% were obtained for Aliquat 336 and TBP, respectively. It was observed that the pH at inlet and outlet of both tube and shell sides were comparable and the lag time time for the system applying TBP was relatively shorter than those subjected to Aliquat 336 and AqT binary mixture. This may be attributed to the lower steric hindrance effect or small ligand of TBP resulting in higher reaction rate of TBPamoxicillin complexation and decomplexation (Leffler and Grunwald, 2013).



Figure 4.10 Extraction percentages and pH during the operation of HFSLM using different extractants as the liquid membrane and maintaining flow rate at 62.5 mL/min. HFSLM was operated countercurrently without recycle.





CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

5.1 Conclusion

The following conclusions can be drawn based on the experimental data presented in the previous chapters.

- 1. Commercial extractants including Aliquat 336, D2EHPA, TBP and Alamine 336 dissolved in 1-decanol were able to extract amoxicillin from aqueous solution with different degrees of success depending on the conditions maintained such as the initial pH of amoxicillin solution, concentrations of extractants, pH of stripping solution and concentrations of stripping solution.
- 2. The initial pH of amoxicillin solution should be maintained at 10 for all extractants employed. By maintaining the optimal pH for amoxicillin solution, it was found that the optimal extractant concentrations were 12 mM for all extractant employed with maximum extraction percentage reported at 86.2% for Aliquat 336. The reason for high extraction percentage for Aliquat 336 at high pH could be linked to the increasing number $Amox^{2-}$ that led to the formation of amoxicillin-extractant complex via ion-pair interaction. The effectiveness of amoxicillin extractant was in the following order: Aliquat 336 > D2EHPA > Alamine 336 > TBP. Stripping percentage varied with different extractants used during amoxicillin extraction. The optimal pH and concentrations of KCl stripping solution were determined at 5 and 4 mM, respectively, resulting in the maximum stripping percentage of 39.3%.
- 3. Synergistic extraction of amoxicillin was possible when using the binary extractant mixtures of DT and AqT. The combination of Aliquat 336 and TBP

maintaining the molar ratio of 10:2 gave the highest extraction percentage and synergistic coefficient of $90.4 \pm 0.39\%$ and 1.84 ± 0.202 , respectively, due to the formation of bulky ion pair. Subsequent experiment, which employed the extracted amoxicillin solution from the optimal synergistic extraction, indicated that optimal pH and concentrations of KCl stripping should be maintained at 5 and 6 mM, respectively, leading to stripping percentage of 34.3%.

4. The optimal operating conditions obtained from the synergistic amoxicillin extraction were used to operate the HFSLM under steady state. Extractant was the AqT mixture prepared at the molar ratio of 10:2 while the stripping solution was 6 mM of KCl maintained at pH 5. Amoxicillin solution and stripping were fed countercurrently into the tube and shell sides of HFSLM, respectively at the same flow rates. The highest extraction and stripping percentage of amoxicillin were determined at 31.8% and 9.7%, respectively, when the flow rates of amoxicillin and stripping solutions were 62.5 mL/min. Lower extraction and stripping percentages compared to those from the reactive liquid-liquid extraction experiment was linked to operating the HFSLM in once-through mode that led to short liquid contact time. Moreover, it appeared that parts of the liquid membrane separated from the organic phase into the aqueous phase as suggested by the significant increase in COD in the feed outlet.

5.2 **Recommendations**

Based on the results of this research, the several recommendations for future work are listed.

1. *Selection of diluent*. Diluent can affect the performance of amoxicillin extraction namely chemical complexing mechanism, solubility of extractants,

stability of membrane and ease of operation in HFSLM. This work employed 1-decanol as the diluent to improve the viscosity of the extracting phase but the disadvantage was due to expensive price. Therefore, the application of other diluents and perhaps the mixtures of diluents should be considered for further study with the selection criteria include toxicity towards human and environment for both short term and long term effects, possible reactions involving amoxicillin, ease of handling and cost.

- 2. *Effect of temperature*. Changing temperature can affect thermodynamic and kinetic parameters of amoxicillin extraction. Moreover, the study on the effect of temperature on amoxicillin separation via HFSLM would be beneficial for formulating the mathematical model of HFSLM and advancement of HFSLM design.
- 3. *Mode of operation.* Other modes of operation such as semi-batch or partial recycle should be considered to increase the contact time of amoxicillin within HFSLM.
- 4. *Other Antibiotics and Actual Wastewater*. Separation of other beta-lactam antibiotics such as dicloxacillin and cefoxitin via HFSLM should be further investigated as well as the factors such as foreign ions and molecules, which are able to disturb the separation efficiency. In addition, the effectiveness of HFSLM operated under suitable mode should be tested with the actual wastewater containing amoxicillin. This study is necessary as other components in wastewater may adversely affect the extraction performance.

REFERENCES

- Adams, C., Wang, Y., Loftin, K., and Meyer, M. (2002). Removal of antibiotics from surface and distilled water in conventional water treatment processes. Journal of Environmental Engineering, 128(3), 253-260.
- Alamdari, E.K., Moradkhani, D., Darvishi, D., Askari, M., and Behnian, D. (2004). Synergistic effect of MEHPA on co-extraction of zinc and cadmium with DEHPA. Minerals Engineering, 17(1), 89-92.
- Allal, K., Hauchard, D., Stambouli, M., Pareau, D., and Durand, G. (1997). Solvent extraction of titanium by tributylphosphate, trioctylphosphine oxide and decanol from chloride media. Hydrometallurgy, 45(1), 113-128.
- Andreozzi, R., Canterino, M., Marotta, R., and Paxeus, N. (2005). Antibiotic removal from wastewaters: The ozonation of amoxicillin. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 122(3), 243-250.
- Andreozzi, R., Caprio, V., Insola, A., and Marotta, R. (1999). Advanced oxidation processes (AOP) for water purification and recovery. Catalysis Today, 53(1), 51-59.
- Arslan-Alaton, I., and Dogruel, S. (2004). Pre-treatment of penicillin formulation effluent by advanced oxidation processes. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 112(1-2), 105-113.
- Arslan-Alaton, I., and Gurses, F. (2004). Photo-Fenton-like and photo-fenton-like oxidation of Procaine Penicillin G formulation effluent. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry, 165(1), 165-175.
- Association, A. P. H. (1998). APHA. 1998. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, 20.
- Baquero, F., Martínez, J.-L., and Cantón, R. (2008). Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in water environments. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 19(3), 260-265.
- Baumgaertner, F., and Finsterwalder, L. (1970). On the transfer mechanism of uranium (VI) and plutonium (IV) nitrate in the system nitric acid-water/tributylphosphate-dodecane. The Journal of Physical Chemistry, 74(1), 108-112.

- Belkhouche, N. E., Amine Didi, M., and Villemin, D. (2005). Separation of nickel and copper by solvent extraction using di-2 ethylhexylphosphoric acid-based synergistic mixture. Solvent Extraction and Ion Exchange, 23(5), 677-693.
- Benitez, F. J., Acero, J. L., Real, F. J., Roldán, G., and Rodriguez, E. (2011). Ultrafiltration and nanofiltration membranes applied to the removal of the pharmaceuticals amoxicillin, naproxen, metoprolol and phenacetin from water. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 86(6), 858-866.
- Blahušiak, M., Schlosser, Š., and Marták, J. (2013). Extraction of butyric acid with a solvent containing ammonium ionic liquid. Separation and Purification Technology, 119(0), 102-111.
- Bora, M. M., Ghosh, A. C., Dutta, N. N., and Mathur, R. K. (1997). Reactive extraction of 6-aminopenicillanic acid with Aliquat-336: Equilibrium and kinetics. The Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering, 75(3), 520-526.
- Britto, J. M., and do Carmo Rangel, M. (2008). Processos avançados de oxidação de compostos fenólicos em efluentes industriais. Química Nova, 31(1), 114.
- Campderrós, M. E., and Marchese, J. (2001). Transport of niobium(V) through a TBP–Alamine 336 supported liquid membrane from chloride solutions. Hydrometallurgy, 61(2), 89-95.
- Canari, R., and Eyal, A. M. (2003). Selectivity in monocarboxylic acids extraction from their mixture solutions using an amine-based extractant: Effect of pH. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research, 42(7), 1301-1307.
- Cascaval, D., Oniscu, C., and Cascaval, C. (2000). Selective separation of penicillin V from phenoxyacetic acid using liquid membranes. Biochemical Engineering Journal, 5(1), 45-50.
- Chemorex D2EHPA. Retrieved 10 June 2015. http://www.chemorama.com/chemorex%20D2hepa.html.
- Chuo, S. C., Mohd-Setapar, S. H., Mohamad-Aziz, S. N., and Starov, V. M. (2014). A new method of extraction of amoxicillin using mixed reverse micelles. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 460, 137-144.
- Coca, J., Díez, F. V., and Morís, M. A. (1990). Solvent extraction of molybdenum and tungsten by Alamine 336 and DEHPA. Hydrometallurgy, 25(2), 125-135.

- Connors, K. A. (1986). Chemical stability of pharmaceuticals: a handbook for pharmacists: John Wiley and Sons.
- Davidson, R., Cavalcanti, R., Brunton, J. L., Bast, D. J., de Azavedo, J. C. S., Kibsey, P., Fleming, C., and Low, D. E. (2002). Resistance to Levofloxacin and Failure of Treatment of Pneumococcal Pneumonia. New England Journal of Medicine, 346(10), 747-750.
- De, A. K., and Rahaman, M. S. (1964). Liquid-liquid extraction of tungsten iv with tributyl phosphate. Talanta, 11(3), 601-606.
- Derakhsheshpoor, R., Homayoonfal, M., Akbari, A., and Mehrnia, M. R. (2013). Amoxicillin separation from pharmaceutical wastewater by high permeability polysulfone nanofiltration membrane. Journal of Environmental Health Science and Engineering, 11(1), 9.
- Devi, N., Nathsarma, K., and Chakravortty, V. (1998). Separation and recovery of cobalt (II) and nickel (II) from sulphate solutions using sodium salts of D2EHPA, PC 88A and Cyanex 272. Hydrometallurgy, 49(1), 47-61.
- Elmolla, E. S., and Chaudhuri, M. (2009). Optimization of Fenton process for treatment of amoxicillin, ampicillin and cloxacillin antibiotics in aqueous solution. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 170(2-3), 666-672.
- Elmolla, E. S., and Chaudhuri, M. (2009). Degradation of the antibiotics amoxicillin, ampicillin and cloxacillin in aqueous solution by the photo-Fenton process. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 172(2), 1476-1481.
- Elmolla, E. S., and Chaudhuri, M. (2010a). Degradation of amoxicillin, ampicillin and cloxacillin antibiotics in aqueous solution by the UV/ZnO photocatalytic process. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 173(1), 445-449.
- Elmolla, E. S., and Chaudhuri, M. (2010b). Photocatalytic degradation of amoxicillin, ampicillin and cloxacillin antibiotics in aqueous solution using UV/TiO2 and UV/H2O2/TiO2 photocatalysis. Desalination, 252(1), 46-52.
- El-Nadi, Y. A., Awwad, N. S., and Nayl, A. A. (2009). A comparative study of vanadium extraction by Aliquat-336 from acidic and alkaline media with application to spent catalyst. International Journal of Mineral Processing, 92(3-4), 115-120.

- Erah, P. O., Goddard, A. F., Barrett, D. A., Shaw, P. N., and Spiller, R. C. (1997). The stability of amoxycillin, clarithromycin and metronidazole in gastric juice: relevance to the treatment of Helicobacter pylori infection. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 39(1), 5-12.
- Eyal, A. M., and Canari, R. (1995). pH dependence of carboxylic and mineral acid extraction by amine-based extractants: effects of pKa, amine basicity, and diluent properties. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research, 34(5), 1789-1798.
- Fatmehsari, D.H., Darvishi, D., Etemadi, S., Eivazi Hollagh, A. R., Alamdari, E.K., and Salardini, A. A. (2009). Interaction between TBP and D2EHPA during Zn, Cd, Mn, Cu, Co and Ni solvent extraction: A thermodynamic and empirical approach. Hydrometallurgy, 98(1-2), 143-147.
- Faye, G., and Inman, W. (1963). A Scheme for the Separation of Platinum, Palladium, Rhodium, and Iridium by Solvent Extraction. Analytical Chemistry, 35(8), 985-988.
- Feng, S., Shan, N., and Carpenter, K. J. (2006). Crystallization of amoxicillin trihydrate in the presence of degradation products. Organic process research and development, 10(6), 1212-1218.
- Fontàs, C., Salvadó, V., and Hidalgo, M. (1999). Solvent Extraction of Pt(IV) by Aliquat 336 and Its Application to A Solid Suppored Liquid Membrane System. Solvent Extraction and Ion Exchange, 17(1), 149-162.
- Gaikwad, A. (2003). Synergic transport of yttrium metal ions through supported liquid membrane. Chemical and Biochemical Engineering Quarterly, 17(4), 327-334.
- Gaikwad, A. G., and Damodaran, A. D. (1990). Synergistic Extraction Studies of Thiocyanate Complexes of Gadolinium, Dysprosium and Erbium with Mixture of Tributyl Phosphate and Tricaprylmonomethylammonium Chloride. Analytical Sciences, 6(6), 871-875.
- Gajda, B., and Bogacki, M. B. (2007). The effect of tributyl phosphate on the extraction of nickel (II) and cobalt (II) ions with di (2-ethylhexyl) phosphoric acid. Physicochemical Problems of Mineral Processing, 41, 145-152.

- Galaction, A.-I., Camarut, M., and Cascaval, D. (2008). Separation of p-aminobenzoic acid by reactive extraction: 1: Mechanism and influencing factors. Chemical Industry and Chemical Engineering Quarterly/CICEQ, 14(3), 159-165.
- Gartiser, S., Urich, E., Alexy, R., and Kümmerer, K. (2007). Anaerobic inhibition and biodegradation of antibiotics in ISO test schemes. Chemosphere, 66(10), 1839-1848.
- Ghosh, A., Bora, M., and Dutta, N. (1996). Developments in liquid membrane separation of beta-lactam antibiotics. Bioseparation, 6(2), 91-105.
- Ghosh, A., Borthakur, S., Roy, M., and Dutta, N. (1995). Extraction of cephalosporin C using supported liquid membrane. Separations Technology, 5(2), 121-126.
- Guezzen, B., and Didi, M. A. (2012). Removal of Zn (II) from aqueous acetate solution using di (2-ethylhexyl) phosphoric acid and tributylphosphate. International Journal of Chemistry, 4(3), 32.
- Hamdo, J. Y. (2011). Titanium Recovery from its Aqueous Media by 3-Acetylpentane-2,4-Dione as Reagent. Damascus University Journal for BASIC SCIENCES, 27(1), 35-48.
- Hano, T., Matsumoto, M., Ohtake, T., and Hori, F. (1992). Reactive extraction of cephalosporin C. Journal of chemical engineering of Japan, 25(3), 293-297.
- Hano, T., Matsumoto, M., Ohtake, T., Sasaki, K., Hori, F., and Kawano, Y. (1990). Extraction equilibria of organic acids with tri-n-octylphosphineoxide. Journal of chemical engineering of Japan, 23(6), 734-738.
- Harris, T. J., Khan, S., Reuben, B., and Shokoya, T. (1990). Reactive Solvent Extraction of Beta-Lactam Antibiotics. In D. L. Pyle (Ed.), Separations for Biotechnology 2 (pp. 172-180): Springer Netherlands.
- Hirose, J., Kondo, F., Nakano, T., Kobayashi, T., Hiro, N., Ando, Y., Hiroshi, T., and Sano, K. (2005). Inactivation of antineoplastics in clinical wastewater by electrolysis. Chemosphere, 60(8), 1018-1024.
- Homem, V., Alves, A., and Santos, L. (2010). Amoxicillin removal from aqueous matrices by sorption with almond shell ashes. International Journal of Environmental and Analytical Chemistry, 90(14-15), 1063-1084.

- Homem, V., and Santos, L. (2011). Degradation and removal methods of antibiotics from aqueous matrices–a review. Journal of environmental management, 92(10), 2304-2347.
- Hong, Y., Hong, W., and Han, D. (2001). Application of reactive extraction to recovery of carboxylic acids. Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering, 6(6), 386-394.
- Inci, I. (2002). Extraction of gluconic acid with organic solutions of alamine 336. Chemical and Biochemical Engineering Quarterly, 16(4), 185-189.
- Issarachaikul, R. (2013). Antibiotic prescription for adults with upper respiratory tract infection and acute bronchitis at King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital, Thailand. Asian Biomed, 7(1).
- Juang, R.-S., and Huang, R.-H. (1996). Comparison of extraction equilibria of succinic and tartaric acids from aqueous solutions with tri-n-octylamine. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research, 35(6), 1944-1950.
- Juang, R.-S., and Wang, Y.-Y. (2002). Amino acid separation with D2EHPA by solvent extraction and liquid surfactant membranes. Journal of Membrane Science, 207(2), 241-252.
- Kaur, S. P., Rao, R., and Nanda, S. (2011). Amoxicillin: a broad spectrum antibiotic. International J Pharm Pharm Sci [serial on the Internet], 3(3).
- Kedari, C. S., Coll, T., Fortuny, A., and Sastre, A. (2005). Third Phase Formation in the Solvent Extraction System Ir(IV)-Cyanex 923. Solvent Extraction and Ion Exchange, 23(4), 545-559.
- Keshav, A., Chand, S., and Wasewar, K. L. (2008). Equilibrium studies for extraction of propionic acid using tri-n-butyl phosphate in different solvents. Journal of Chemical and Engineering Data, 53(7), 1424-1430.
- Keshav, A., Wasewar, K. L., and Chand, S. (2008). Extraction of acrylic, propionic, and butyric acid using Aliquat 336 in oleyl alcohol: Equilibria and effect of temperature. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research, 48(2), 888-893.
- Kislik, V. S. (2012). Solvent extraction: classical and novel approaches. Netherlands: Elsevier.
- Kislik, V. S., Figoli, A., Chakraborty, M., Dzygiel, P., Bhattacharjee, C., Datta, S., Tandlich, R., and Wieczorek, P. (2010). Liquid Membranes Principles and

Applications in Chemical Separations and Wastewater Treatment. Netherlands: Elsevier.

- Klauson, D., Babkina, J., Stepanova, K., Krichevskaya, M., and Preis, S. (2010).
 Aqueous photocatalytic oxidation of amoxicillin. Catalysis Today, 151(1), 39-45.
- Kocherginsky, N. M., Yang, Q., and Seelam, L. (2007). Recent advances in supported liquid membrane technology. Separation and Purification Technology, 53(2), 171-177.
- Kolev, S. D., Baba, Y., Cattrall, R. W., Tasaki, T., Pereira, N., Perera, J. M., and Stevens, G. W. (2009). Solid phase extraction of zinc (II) using a PVC-based polymer inclusion membrane with di (2-ethylhexyl) phosphoric acid (D2EHPA) as the carrier. Talanta, 78(3), 795-799.
- Kumar, S., and Babu, B. (2009). Influence of Temperature on Reactive Extraction of Propionic Acid using Tri-n-butyl Phosphate (TBP) dissolved in Inert Diluents and 1-Decanol. Paper presented at the Proceedings of International Symposium and 62nd Annual Session of IIChE in association with International Partners (CHEMCON-2009), Andhra University, Visakhapatnam.
- Kumar, J. R., Kim, J.-S., Lee, J.-Y., and Yoon, H.-S. (2010). Solvent extraction of uranium (VI) and separation of vanadium (V) from sulfate solutions using Alamine 336. Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, 285(2), 301-308.
- Lee, J.-Y., Kumar, J. R., Kim, J.-S., Kim, D.-J., and Yoon, H.-S. (2009). Extraction and separation of Pt (IV)/Rh (III) from acidic chloride solutions using Aliquat 336. Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, 15(3), 359-364.
- Leffler, J. E. and E. Grunwald (2013). Rates and equilibria of organic reactions: as treated by statistical, thermodynamic and extrathermodynamic methods. Courier Corporation.
- Lenzi, F., Tran, T.-T., and Teng, T.-T. (1975). The Water-activity of Supersaturated Aqueous Solutions of NaCl, KCl, and K2SO4 at 25°C. Canadian Journal of Chemistry, 53(20), 3133-3140.

- Lothongkum, A., Pancharoen, U., and Prapasawat, T. (2011). Roles of facilitated transport through HFSLM in engineering applications. Mass Transfer in Chemical Engineering Processes, InTech Open Access Publisher, Rijeka, Croatia, 199.
- Marchese, J., Campderrós, M., and Acosta, A. (1995). Transport and separation of cobalt, nickel and copper ions with alamine liquid membranes. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 64(3), 293-297.
- Matsumoto, M., Otono, T., and Kondo, K. (2001). Synergistic extraction of organic acids with tri-n-octylamine and tri-n-butylphosphate. Separation and Purification Technology, 24(1), 337-342.
- Matsumoto, M., Takahashi, T., and Fukushima, K. (2003). Synergistic extraction of lactic acid with alkylamine and tri-n-butylphosphate: effects of amines, diluents and temperature. Separation and Purification Technology, 33(1), 89-93.
- Mei, F., Qin, W., and Dai, Y. (2002). Extraction equilibria of benzoic acid with tributyl phosphate in kerosene and 1-octanol. Journal of Chemical and Engineering Data, 47(4), 941-943.
- Mishra, P., Chakravortty, V., Dash, K., Das, N., and Bhattacharyya, S. (1989). Extraction of zirconium (IV) from HCl solutions by mixtures of Aliquat-336 and Alamine-336 with TBP. Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, 134(2), 259-264.
- Moussavi, G., Alahabadi, A., Yaghmaeian, K., and Eskandari, M. (2013). Preparation, characterization and adsorption potential of the NH4Cl-induced activated carbon for the removal of amoxicillin antibiotic from water. Chemical Engineering Journal, 217, 119-128.
- Msagati, T. A., and Nindi, M. M. (2007). Determination of β-lactam residues in foodstuffs of animal origin using supported liquid membrane extraction and liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry. Food Chemistry, 100(2), 836-844.
- Navalon, S., Alvaro, M., and Garcia, H. (2008). Reaction of chlorine dioxide with emergent water pollutants: Product study of the reaction of three β -lactam antibiotics with ClO2. Water research, 42(8), 1935-1942.

- Pan, K., Chen, Y.-M., and Lee, S.-T. (1960). A Study of the Extraction of Thorium Nitrate With TBP. Journal of the Chinese Chemical Society, 7(1), 11-19.
- Pan, X., Deng, C., Zhang, D., Wang, J., Mu, G., and Chen, Y. (2008). Toxic effects of amoxicillin on the photosystem II of Synechocystis sp. characterized by a variety of in vivo chlorophyll fluorescence tests. Aquatic Toxicology, 89(4), 207-213.
- Parhi, P. (2012). Supported liquid membrane principle and its practices: A short review. Journal of Chemistry, 2013.
- Park, S., and Choi, K. (2008). Hazard assessment of commonly used agricultural antibiotics on aquatic ecosystems. Ecotoxicology, 17(6), 526-538.
- Pim, P. I. U. M. I. P., Alamina, I., Lo, Z., and Raztopin, E. K. I. V. (2014). Preparation and Application of Polymer Inclusion Membranes (PIMs) Including Alamine 336 for The Extraction of Metals from An Aqueous Solution. Materiali in tehnologije, 48(5), 791-796.
- Pirom, T., Sunsandee, N., Ramakul, P., Pancharoen, U., Nootong, K., and Leepipatpiboon, N. (2014). Separation of amoxicillin using trioctylmethylammonium chloride via a hollow fiber supported liquid membrane: Modeling and experimental investigation. Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, 23, 109-118.
- Pirom, T., Sunsandee, N., Wongsawa, T., Ramakul, P., Pancharoen, U., and Nootong, K. (2015). The effect of temperature on mass transfer and thermodynamic parameters in the removal of amoxicillin via hollow fiber supported liquid membrane. Chemical Engineering Journal, 265(0), 75-83.
- Plianbangchang, P., Jetiyanon, K., Suttaloung, C., and Khumchuen, L. (2010). Physicians' generic drug prescribing behavior in district hospitals: a case of Phitsanulok, Thailand. Pharm Pract, 8(3), 167-172.
- Prakorn, R., and Ura, P. (2003). Synergistic extraction and separation of mixture of lanthanum and neodymium by hollow fiber supported liquid membrane. Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering, 20(4), 724-730.
- Pursell, M. R., Mendes-Tatsis, M. A., and Stuckey, D. C. (2003). Coextraction during reactive extraction of phenylalanine using Aliquat 336: modeling extraction equilibrium. Biotechnology and bioengineering, 82(5), 533-542.

- Putra, E. K., Pranowo, R., Sunarso, J., Indraswati, N., and Ismadji, S. (2009). Performance of activated carbon and bentonite for adsorption of amoxicillin from wastewater: Mechanisms, isotherms and kinetics. Water research, 43(9), 2419-2430.
- Quinn, J. E., Wilkins, D., and Soldenhoff, K. H. (2013). Solvent extraction of uranium from saline leach liquors using DEHPA/Alamine 336 mixed reagent. Hydrometallurgy, 134–135(0), 74-79.
- Rao, N., Singh, J. R., Misra, R., and Nandy, T. (2009). Liquid–liquid extraction of phenol from simulated sebacic acid wastewater. Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research, 68, 823-828.
- Reschke, M., and Schügerl, K. (1984). Reactive extraction of penicillin II: Distribution coefficients and degrees of extraction. The Chemical Engineering Journal, 28(1), B11-B20.
- Saeed, M. T., Ahmad, J., and Shaheen, M. (2009). Commercial Application of Extracting Reagents for Metal Recovery. Journal of Pakistani Institute of Chemical Engineers, 13(59), 1-4.
- Sahoo, G., Dutta, N., and Dass, N. (1999). Liquid membrane extraction of cephalosporin-C from fermentation broth. Journal of Membrane Science, 157(2), 251-261.
- Sahoo, G. C., Dutta, N. N., and Dass, N. N. (2000). Liquid Membrane Transport of Cephalosporin Antibiotics: Effect of Solute Chemical Nature on Carrier Specificity. Chemical Engineering Communications, 179(1), 89-99.
- Sakhalkar, P. (2002). Synthesis Of Di (2-Ethyl Hexyl) Phosphoric Acid (D2EHPA). Paper presented at the Proceedings of the International Symposium on Solvent Extraction (ISSE).
- Sato, T., Watanabe, H., and Suzuki, H. (1990). Liquid-liquid extraction of molybdenum (VI) from aqueous acid solutions by TBP and TOPO. Hydrometallurgy, 23(2), 297-308.
- Schulz, G. (1988). Separation techniques with supported liquid membranes. Desalination, 68(2), 191-202.

- Secondes, M. F. N., Naddeo, V., Ballesteros Jr, F., and Belgiorno, V. (2014). Adsorption of emerging contaminants enhanced by ultrasound irradiation. Sustainable Environment Research, 24(5), 349-355.
- Shahtalebi, A., and Sarrafzadeh, M. (2011). Application of nanofiltration membrane in the separation of amoxicillin from pharmaceutical wastewater. Iranian Journal of Environmental Health Science and Engineering, 8(2), 106-110.
- Sharma, V. K. (2008). Oxidative transformations of environmental pharmaceuticals by Cl2, ClO2, O3, and Fe(VI): Kinetics assessment. Chemosphere, 73(9), 1379-1386.
- Singh, H., Vijayalakshmi, R., Mishra, S., and Gupta, C. (2001). Studies on uranium extraction from phosphoric acid using di-nonyl phenyl phosphoric acid-based synergistic mixtures. Hydrometallurgy, 59(1), 69-76.
- Stackelberg, P. E., Gibs, J., Furlong, E. T., Meyer, M. T., Zaugg, S. D., and Lippincott, R. L. (2007). Efficiency of conventional drinking-water-treatment processes in removal of pharmaceuticals and other organic compounds. Science of the Total Environment, 377(2), 255-272.
- Stockinger, H., Heinzle, E., and Kut, O. M. (1995). Removal of chloro and nitro aromatic wastewater pollutants by ozonation and biotreatment. Environmental science and technology, 29(8), 2016-2022.
- Stojanovic, A., Keppler, B. K., Morgenbesser, C., Kogelnig, D., and Krachler, R. (2011). Quaternary ammonium and phosphonium ionic liquids in chemical and environmental engineering. INTECH Open Access Publisher.
- Su, S., Guo, W., Yi, C., Leng, Y., and Ma, Z. (2012). Degradation of amoxicillin in aqueous solution using sulphate radicals under ultrasound irradiation. Ultrasonics sonochemistry, 19(3), 469-474.
- Sunsandee, N., Ramakul, P., Hronec, M., Pancharoen, U., and Leepipatpiboon, N. (2014). Mathematical model and experimental validation of the synergistic effect of selective enantioseparation of (S)-amlodipine from pharmaceutical wastewater using a HFSLM. Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, 20(4), 1612-1622.
- Suren, S., Wongsawa, T., Pancharoen, U., Prapasawat, T., and Lothongkum, A. W. (2012). Uphill transport and mathematical model of Pb(II) from dilute

synthetic lead-containing solutions across hollow fiber supported liquid membrane. Chemical Engineering Journal, 191(0), 503-511.

- Tavlarides, L., Bae, J., and Lee, C. (1987). Solvent extraction, membranes, and ion exchange in hydrometallurgical dilute metals separation. Separation Science and Technology, 22(2-3), 581-617.
- Trovó, A. G., Melo, S. A. S., and Nogueira, R. F. P. (2008). Photodegradation of the pharmaceuticals amoxicillin, bezafibrate and paracetamol by the photo-Fenton process—application to sewage treatment plant effluent. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry, 198(2), 215-220.
- Ulewicz, M., and Walkowiak, W. (2005). Selective removal of transition metal ions in transport through polymer inclusion membranes with organophosphorus acids. Environment Protection Engineering, 31(3/4), 73.
- US FDA (2014). Food Additives Permitted for Direct Addition to Food for Human Consumption, part 172 subpart F-flavoring agents and related substances. Retrieved 29 April 2015 http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm?FR= 172.515.
- USP 35, U. S. P. (2012). National Formulary30. Baltimore, Maryland: United State Pharmacopeial Conventions.
- van der Hoogerstraete, T., Onghena, B., and Binnemans, K. (2013). Homogeneous liquid–liquid extraction of rare earths with the betaine—betainium bis (trifluoromethylsulfonyl) imide ionic liquid system. International journal of molecular sciences, 14(11), 21353-21377.
- Vieno, N. M., Härkki, H., Tuhkanen, T., and Kronberg, L. (2007). Occurrence of pharmaceuticals in river water and their elimination in a pilot-scale drinking water treatment plant. Environmental science and technology, 41(14), 5077-5084.
- Vilt, M. E., and Ho, W. S. W. (2010). Selective Separation of Cephalexin from Multiple Component Mixtures. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research, 49(23), 12022-12030.
- Wang, L. Y., Lee, H. Y., and Lee, M. S. (2014). Solvent Extractive Separation of Zirconium and Hafnium from Hydrochloric Acid Solutions by

Organophosphorous Extractants and their Mixtures with Other Types of Extractants. Chemical Engineering Communications, 202, 1289-1295.

- Wannachod, T., Leepipatpiboon, N., Pancharoen, U., and Nootong, K. (2014). Separation and mass transport of Nd(III) from mixed rare earths via hollow fiber supported liquid membrane: Experiment and modeling. Chemical Engineering Journal, 248(0), 158-167.
- Wasewar, K. L., Heesink, A. B. M., Versteeg, G. F., and Pangarkar, V. G. (2002). Reactive extraction of lactic acid using Alamine 336 in MIBK: equilibria and kinetics. Journal of Biotechnology, 97(1), 59-68.
- Wasewar, K. L., Shende, D., and Keshav, A. (2011). Reactive extraction of itaconic acid using tri-n-butyl phosphate and Aliquat 336 in sunflower oil as a nontoxic diluent. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 86(2), 319-323.
- Wassink, B., Dreisinger, D., and Howard, J. (2000). Solvent extraction separation of zinc and cadmium from nickel and cobalt using Aliquat 336, a strong base anion exchanger, in the chloride and thiocyanate forms. Hydrometallurgy, 57(3), 235-252.
- Wilson, R. B., and Jacobs, W. D. (1961). Separation of iridium from rhodium by extraction with tributyl phosphate. Analytical Chemistry, 33(12), 1650-1652.
- Wongsawa, T., Sunsandee, N., Lothongkum, A. W., Pancharoen, U., and Phatanasri, S. (2015). The role of organic diluents in the aspects of equilibrium, kinetics and thermodynamic model for silver ion extraction using an extractant D2EHPA. Fluid Phase Equilibria, 388, 22-30.
- Wright, G. D. (2010). Antibiotic resistance in the environment: a link to the clinic? Current Opinion in Microbiology, 13(5), 589-594.
- Yang, H.-M., and Lin, C.-L. (2003). Phase-transfer catalyzed benzylation of sodium benzoate using aliquat 336 as catalyst in liquid–liquid system. Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical, 206(1), 67-76.
- Yang, S. T., White, S. A., and Hsu, S. T. (1991). Extraction of carboxylic acids with tertiary and quaternary amines: effect of pH. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research, 30(6), 1335-1342.

Yunhai, S., Houyong, S., Haiyong, C., Deming, L., and Qinghua, L. (2011). Synergistic Extraction of Glycolic Acid from Glycolonitrile Hydrolysate. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research, 50(13), 8216-8224.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University





จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University
APPENDIX A THE FORMULATIONS OF BUFFER SOLUTIONS

According to Henderson-Hasselbalch equation, 1M of phosphate and acetate buffer solutions are prepared at various pHs by dissolving the certain amount of acids and conjugate bases as shown in Table A.1-2 into DI water. To adjust the pH of phosphate buffer solution, potassium hydroxide or orthophosphoric acid is used while potassium hydroxide or acetic acid is added to acetate buffer solution for pH adjustment. The prepared phosphate and acetate buffer solutions are kept at room temperature and avoid light exposure until used.

Table A.1

Desired	The nearest	Base (K_2 HPO ₄)		Acid (l	KH ₂ PO ₄)
рН	рКа	Moles	Grams	Moles	Grams
2.0	2.15	0.4145	72.20	0.5855	79.68
3.0	2.15	0.8762	152.62	0.1238	16.84
4.0	2.15	0.9861	171.75	0.0139	1.90
5.0	6.82	0.0149	2.60	0.9851	134.06
6.0	6.82	0.1315	22.90	0.8685	118.20
7.0	6.82	0.6022	104.88	0.3978	54.14
8.0	6.82	0.9380	163.39	0.0620	8.43
9.0	6.82	0.9934	173.04	0.0066	0.89
10.0	12.38	0.0042	0.72	0.9958	135.53

Formulations of 1 liter of 1M phosphate buffer solutions at pH 2.0-10.0

Table A.2

Desired	The nearest	Base (C	H ₃ COOK)	Acid (Cl	H ₃ COOH)
рН	рКа	Moles	Grams	Moles	Grams
4.0	4.76	0.1481	14.53	0.8519	51.16
5.0	4.76	0.6348	62.30	0.3652	21.93
6.0	4.76	0.9456	92.80	0.0544	3.27
7.0	4.76	0.9943	97.58	0.0057	0.34

Formulations of 1 liter of 1M acetate buffer solutions at pH 4.0-7.0



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

APPENDIX B

PREPARATION OF STANDARD CALIBRATION CURVE

Standard calibration curves of amoxicillin are prepared at particular pH in order to account for amoxicillin degradation at different aqueous acidity. After dissolving an amoxicillin capsule into DI water, adjusting the pH by adding ammonia solution or glacial acetic acid, the antibiotic solution is kept undisturbed and avoided exposure to light for 19 h before the stepwise dilution. The prepared 500 mg/L of amoxicillin solution is diluted into 375, 250, 125 and 100 mg/L. Subsequently, amoxicillin solutions at all concentrations are further diluted at dilution ratio of 4:10 to regulate the absorbance meeting the acceptable range (0.1-0.9). The concentrations of amoxicillin are calibrated by using UV-vis spectrophotometer and monitoring at 272 nm. The obtained calibration curves and equations are shown in Fig. B.1 and Table B.1, respectively.



Figure B.1 Standard calibration curves of amoxicillin at pH ranged from 2.0 to 10.0

pН	Calibration equation	Coefficient of
		determination (R ²)
2	y = 754.74x	0.9973
3	y = 731.76x	0.9960
4	y = 798.68x	0.9945
5	y = 801.06x	0.9976
6	y = 762.55x	0.9971
7	y = 747.92x	0.9983
8	y = 710.02x	0.9913
9	y = 624.06x	0.9963
10	y = 536.10x	0.9856

Table B.1 Calibration equations of amoxicillin at particular pH fitted to go through the origin point

Fig. B.1 demonstrated the increase of absorbance with increasing initial pH of amoxicillin solution at the same concentration after the absorbance reached the bottom at pH between 4 and 5. This may be attributed to the presence of degradation products of amoxicillin whose quantity developed according to too high or too low pH and their specific wavelengths to absorb were near to 272 nm (Fig. B.2). The absorbance of amoxicillin sharply increased when initial pH increased from 8 to 10 since the basic condition catalyzed the hydrolysis reaction of amoxicillin resulted in a larger extent of degradation product formation (Connors, 1986). The least formation of degradation products at pH 5 implied that the amoxicillin molecule in aqueous solution was most stable at pH 5 conformed to the other pharmaceutical report (Kaur, et al., 2011).



Figure B.2 UV-vis spectra of amoxicillin solutions maintained at initial pH (a) 4 and



APPENDIX C EXPERIMENTAL DATA

The experimental data are tabulated in Table C.1 - C.16 in chronological order according to the conceptual framework. Each data is expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (n = 3). The standard deviations of calculated variables were pooled by using error propagation equations.

Table C.1 Extraction percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of single extractantand varying initial pH of amoxicillin solution from 2 to 12

Initial pH	Without any extractant					
1 _	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage			
2	0.6590±0.0005	499±6.7	0.2±1.69			
3	0.6800±0.0016	496±8.8	0.7±2.11			
4	0.6233±0.0014	499±10.2	0.3±2.38			
5	0.6242 ± 0.0008	499±6.6	0.1±1.66			
6	0.6534±0.0009	499±7.2	0.2±1.79			
7	0.6682±0.0016	499±6.2	0.3±1.58			
8	0.7042 ± 0.0005	499±11.7	0.1±2.69			
9	0.7936±0.0030	496±9.3	0.8 ± 2.20			
10	0.9260±0.0030	498±16.2	0.4±3.59			
12	0.9222±0.0012	499±15.3	0.8±3.39			

Initial nU		Aliquat 336	
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage
2	0.6481±0.0012	491±7.2	1.8±1.79
3	0.6611±0.0043	483±10.6	3.5±2.47
4	0.6116±0.0001	489±9.0	2.1±2.14
5	0.6097±0.0022	488±7.6	2.4±1.87
6	0.6212±0.0022	474±7.9	5.2±1.93
7	0.5166±0.0014	386±4.9	22.9±1.40
8	0.4347±0.0052	308±10.7	38.3±2.62
9	0.3220±0.0039	201±5.4	59.8±1.64
10	0.2962±0.0003	159±4.8	68.2±1.54
12	0.3290±0.0040	177±7.3	64.6±2.03

Table C.1 Extraction percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of single extractantand varying initial pH of amoxicillin solution from 2 to 12 (continued)

		TBP	
Initial pH	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage
2	0.6415±0.0036	486±8.9	2.8±2.13
3	0.6695±0.0013	489±8.5	2.3±2.05
4	0.6105 ± 0.0007	488±9.4	2.3±2.23
5	0.6135±0.0017	491±7.2	1.8 ± 1.79
6	0.6431±0.0011	491±7.2	$1.8{\pm}1.80$
7	0.6363±0.0001	475±4.8	5.0±1.33
8	0.6848±0.0020	486±12.5	2.9±2.85
9	0.7562±0.0038	473±9.4	5.5±2.25
10	0.8779±0.0002	472±13.9	5.6±3.15
12	0.8778 ± 0.0017	472±14.8	5.5±3.32

Table C.1 Extraction percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of single extractantand varying initial pH of amoxicillin solution from 2 to 12 (continued)

T 1 TT		Alamine 336	i
Initial pH	A_{272}	[Amox]	Extraction percentage
2	0.6277±0.0040	476±9.1	4.9±2.18
3	0.6469±0.0074	472±12.7	5.6±2.90
4	0.6102±0.0012	488±9.8	2.4±2.31
5	0.6141±0.0009	491±6.6	$1.7{\pm}1.67$
6	0.6368±0.0035	486±9.0	2.8±2.16
7	0.6432±0.0032	480±7.2	$4.0{\pm}1.80$
8	0.6640±0.0035	471±13.2	5.8±3.01
9	0.6945±0.0012	434±7.2	13.2±1.83
10	0.7678±0.0011	413±12.7	17.4±2.95
12	0.7771±0.0041	418±14.5	16.4±3.29

Table C.1 Extraction percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of single extractantand varying initial pH of amoxicillin solution from 2 to 12 (continued)

		D2EHPA	
Initial pH	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage
2	0.6492 ± 0.0004	492±6.4	1.6±1.62
3	0.5945±0.0012	434±7.0	13.2±1.79
4	0.5990 ± 0.0048	479±10.1	4.2±2.37
5	0.6120±0.0023	490±6.5	2.1±1.65
6	0.6434±0.0001	491±6.5	1.8 ± 1.64
7	0.6451±0.0047	481±6.3	3.7±1.62
8	0.6233±0.0061	442±11.8	11.6±2.73
9	0.6316±0.0016	395±6.3	21.1±1.67
10	0.6470±0.0012	348±10.5	30.4±2.54
12	0.6364±0.0009	342±10.2	31.5±2.50

Table C.1 Extraction percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of single extractantand varying initial pH of amoxicillin solution from 2 to 12 (continued)

Table C.2 Extraction percentage and distribution coefficient of amoxicillin by maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 and varying concentration of extractant from 2 to 15 mM

[Fr]	Aliquat 336					
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage	D		
2	0.6047±0.0004	325±9.8	35.0±2.42	0.54±0.052		
3	0.5149±0.0011	277±8.7	44.6±2.24	0.81±0.063		
4	0.4507 ± 0.0012	242±7.8	51.5±2.08	1.06±0.073		
5	0.4211±0.0035	226±8.5	54.7±2.24	1.21±0.091		
6	0.2962±0.0003	159±4.8	68.2±1.54	2.14±0.106		
8	0.2478 ± 0.0004	133±4.1	73.4±1.42	2.75±0.129		
9	0.2317±0.0018	125±4.6	75.1±1.52	3.01±0.162		
10	0.1367±0.0015	73±3.0	85.3±1.23	5.80±0.297		
12	0.1283±0.0005	69±2.3	86.2±1.10	6.25±0.267		
15	0.1080±0.0011	58±2.3	UNIV 88.4±1.11	7.61±0.372		

Note: [*Ex*] is concentration of extractant (mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [*Amox*] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L), *D* is distribution coefficient.

Table C.2 Extraction percentage and distribution coefficient of amoxicillin by maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 and varying concentration of extractant from 2 to 15 mM (continued)

[En]	D2EHPA					
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage	D		
2	0.7190±0.0042	387±13.6	22.7±3.14	0.29±0.050		
3	0.7230 ± 0.0028	389±12.9	22.3±3.00	0.29±0.047		
4	0.7077 ± 0.0001	380±11.2	23.9±2.67	0.31±0.043		
5	0.7002 ± 0.0012	376±11.7	24.7±2.77	0.33±0.046		
6	0.6470 ± 0.0012	348±10.8	30.4±2.62	0.44 ± 0.050		
8	0.6294 ± 0.0012	338±10.6	32.3±2.57	0.48 ± 0.051		
9	$0.5798 {\pm} 0.0005$	312±9.4	37.7±2.36	0.60 ± 0.054		
10	0.5756±0.0012	309±9.7	38.1±2.42	0.62 ± 0.056		
12	0.5652±0.0042	304±11.2	39.2±2.71	0.65 ± 0.066		
15	0.5795±0.0013	312±9.9	37.7±2.44	0.60 ± 0.056		

Note: [*Ex*] is concentration of extractant (mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [*Amox*] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L), *D* is distribution coefficient.

Table C.2 Extraction percentage and distribution coefficient of amoxicillin by maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 and varying concentration of extractant from 2 to 15 mM (continued)

	TBP				
[Ex]	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage	D	
2	0.8824±0.0022	474±15.1	5.1±3.38	0.05±0.037	
3	0.8856 ± 0.0007	476±14.4	4.8±3.23	0.05 ± 0.035	
4	0.8700±0.0034	468±15.6	6.5±3.48	0.07 ± 0.039	
5	0.8896±0.0033	478±15.8	4.3±3.53	0.05 ± 0.038	
6	0.8779 ± 0.0038	472±15.9	5.6±3.54	0.06 ± 0.039	
8	0.8683±0.0021	467±14.8	6.6±3.33	0.07 ± 0.038	
9	0.8795 ± 0.0009	473±14.4	5.4±3.24	0.06 ± 0.036	
10	0.8816±0.0022	474±15.1	5.2±3.38	0.05 ± 0.037	
12	0.8743±0.0022	470±15.0	6.0±3.36	0.06 ± 0.038	
15	0.8771±0.0023	472±15.1	5.7±3.38	0.06 ± 0.038	

Note: [Ex] is concentration of extractant (mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, *[Amox]* is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L), *D* is distribution coefficient.

Table C.2 Extraction percentage and distribution coefficient of amoxicillin by maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 and varying concentration of extractant from 2 to 15 mM (continued)

[Fy]		Alamine 336		
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage	D
2	0.7914±0.0005	425±12.8	14.9±2.95	0.18±0.039
3	0.7880 ± 0.0007	424±12.8	15.3±2.96	0.18 ± 0.040
4	0.7772 ± 0.0007	418±12.6	16.4±2.92	0.20 ± 0.040
5	0.7934±0.0025	427±13.9	14.7±3.17	0.17 ± 0.042
6	0.7678±0.0011	413±12.7	17.4±2.95	0.21±0.041
8	0.7664 ± 0.0001	412±12.2	17.6±2.84	0.21±0.040
9	0.7559 ± 0.0002	406±12.0	18.7±2.82	0.23±0.041
10	0.7366±0.0007	396±12.0	20.8±2.82	0.26±0.043
12	0.6996±0.0038	376±13.1	24.8±3.04	0.33±0.051
15	0.7252±0.0009	390±11.9	22.0±2.80	0.28±0.044

Note: [*Ex*] is concentration of extractant (mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [*Amox*] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L), *D* is distribution coefficient.

Table C.3 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of KCl solution and varying pH of stripping solution from 4 to 7 after forward extraction by employing 12 mM of single extractant and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10

рН	Aliquat 336						
P	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Stripping percentage				
4	0.2270±0.0087	182±2.3	36.3±0.58				
5	0.2296 ± 0.0027	184±4.4	36.7±1.00				
6	0.2189 ± 0.0005	167±2.5	33.4±0.62				
7	0.2259 ± 0.0006	169±2.2	33.7±0.55				

Table C.3 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of KCl solution and varying pH of stripping solution from 4 to 7 after forward extraction by employing 12 mM of single extractant and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 (continued)

nН		D2EHP	A
p11 _	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Stripping percentage
4	0.0853±0.0022	68±3.0	13.6±0.65
5	0.0810 ± 0.0021	65±2.5	13.0±0.53
6	0.0822±0.0018	63±2.2	12.5±0.49
7	0.0786 ± 0.0008	59±1.2	11.7±0.28

Table C.3 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of KCl solution and varying pH of stripping solution from 4 to 7 after forward extraction by employing 12 mM of single extractant and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 (continued)

nН	TBP					
P11 .	A_{272}	[Amox]	Stripping percentage			
4	0.0161±0.0035	13±3.0	2.6±0.62			
5	0.0156 ± 0.0056	12±4.6	2.5±0.93			
6	0.0123±0.0029	9±2.3	1.9±0.47			
7	0.0358±0.0066	27±5.2	5.3±1.06			

Table C.3 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of KCl solution and varying pH of stripping solution from 4 to 7 after forward extraction by employing 12 mM of single extractant and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 (continued)

nH	Alamine 336						
P** .	A_{272}	[Amox]	Stripping percentage				
4	0.0459±0.0076	37±6.8	7.3±1.38				
5	0.0524 ± 0.0055	42±4.9	8.4±1.01				
6	0.0454 ± 0.0068	35±5.6	6.9±1.15				
7	0.0460 ± 0.0022	34±2.0	6.9±0.42				

Table C.4 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by varying concentration of KCl from 2 to 10 mM and adjusting pH of stripping solution to the optimal value after forward extraction by employing 12 mM of single extractant and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10

	Aliquat 336						
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Stripping percentage				
2	0.2184±0.0003	175±3.4	34.9±0.80				
4	0.2457±0.0031	197±6.1	39.3±1.35				
6	0.2244 ± 0.0028	180±5.5	35.9±1.22				
8	0.2219±0.0012	178±4.1	35.5±0.95				
10	0.2207±0.0017	177±4.6	35.3±1.04				

Note: [KCl] is concentration of potassium chloride in stripping solution (mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, *[Amox]* is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table C.4 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by varying concentration of KCl from 2 to 10 mM and adjusting pH of stripping solution to the optimal value after forward extraction by employing 12 mM of single extractant and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 (continued)

	D2EHPA						
[ΚСι]	A_{272}	[Amox]	Stripping percentage				
2	0.1986±0.0425	159±36.9	31.8±7.48				
4	0.1825±0.0206	146±19.1	29.2±3.93				
6	0.0854±0.0128	68±11.5	13.7±2.34				
8	0.0866±0.0156	69±13.7	13.9±2.79				
10	0.0873±0.0202	70±17.4	14.0±3.54				

Note: [*KCl*] is concentration of potassium chloride in stripping solution (mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [*Amox*] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table C.4 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by varying concentration of KCl from 2 to 10 mM and adjusting pH of stripping solution to the optimal value after forward extraction by employing 12 mM of single extractant and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 (continued)

[KCl]	TBP						
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Stripping percentage				
2	0.0086±0.0014	6±1.2	1.3±0.24				
4	0.0094±0.0009	7±0.8	1.4±0.17				
6	0.0349±0.0070	26±5.7	5.2±1.16				
8	0.0166±0.0025	12±2.1	2.5±0.43				
10	0.0152±0.0012	11±1.1	2.3±0.23				

Note: [*KCl*] is concentration of potassium chloride in stripping solution (mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [*Amox*] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L).

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table C.4 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by varying concentration of KCl from 2 to 10 mM and adjusting pH of stripping solution to the optimal value after forward extraction by employing 12 mM of single extractant and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10 (continued)

	Alamine 336						
[KCI]	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Stripping percentage				
2	0.0475 ± 0.0088	38±7.7	7.6±1.57				
4	0.0442±0.0011	35±1.5	7.1±0.33				
6	0.0504±0.0043	40±4.2	8.1±0.86				
8	0.0415±0.0016	33±1.9	6.6±0.39				
10	0.0410±0.0016	33±1.8	6.6±0.39				

Note: [*KCl*] is concentration of potassium chloride in stripping solution (mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [*Amox*] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L).

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

	1^{st} Aliquat 336 + 2^{nd} D2EHPA							
$[Ex_1]:$	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage	D	S			
3:9	0.5413±0.0025	291±9.9	41.8±1.98	0.72 ± 0.064	0.51 ± 0.088			
6:6	0.6145±0.0012	330±10.3	33.9±2.06	0.51±0.052	0.20±0.032			
9:3	0.4466±0.0007	240±7.4	52.0±1.48	1.08±0.071	0.33±0.042			
10:2	0.2723±0.0023	146±5.5	70.7±1.11	2.41±0.141	0.40 ± 0.046			

Table C.5 Synergistic coefficient of binary extractant systems with total extractant

 concentration equal to 12 mM

Note: $[Ex_1]$: $[Ex_2]$ is mole ratio of 1st extractant to 2nd extractant (mM:mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [Amox] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L), *D* is distribution coefficient, *S* is synergistic coefficient.

 Table C.5
 Synergistic coefficient of binary extractant systems with total extractant concentration equal to 12 mM (continued)

CHILLALONGKORN UNIVERSITY								
	$1^{st} D2EHPA + 2^{nd} TBP$							
$[Ex_1]$:								
$[\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{r}}, \mathbf{I}]$		<i></i>	Extraction	_	~			
$[L\lambda_2]$	A_{272}	[Amox]	parcantaga	D	S			
			percentage					
3.9	0 7095+0 0022	381+12.4	237+247	0 31+0 047	0 90+0 355			
5.7	0.1095±0.0022	501±12.1	23.7 ±2.17	0.5120.017	0.90±0.555			
6:6	0.5037 ± 0.0011	271±8.5	45.8 ± 1.70	0.85 ± 0.064	1.70 ± 0.435			
9:3	0.4479 ± 0.0004	241±7.3	51.8±1.45	1.08 ± 0.070	1.63 ± 0.498			
10:2	0.4409 ± 0.0013	237±7.7	52.6±1.53	1.11 ± 0.075	1.66 ± 0.344			

Note: $[Ex_1]$: $[Ex_2]$ is mole ratio of 1st extractant to 2nd extractant (mM:mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [Amox] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L), *D* is distribution coefficient, *S* is synergistic coefficient.

$[\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{x}_{i}}]$		1 st Ali	quat $336 + 2^{nd}$	TBP	
$[Ex_1] .$ $[Ex_2]$	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage	D	S
3:9	0.4003±0.0018	215±7.3	57.0±1.46	1.32±0.087	1.53±0.276
6:6	0.2222±0.0010	119±4.0	76.1±0.80	3.19±0.155	1.45±0.166
9:3	0.1403 ± 0.0009	75±2.7	84.9±0.53	5.63±0.258	1.84±0.202
10:2	0.0891±0.0010	48±1.9	90.4±0.39	9.44±0.459	1.61±0.170

Table C.5 Synergistic coefficient of binary extractant systems with total extractant

 concentration equal to 12 mM (continued)

Note: $[Ex_1]$: $[Ex_2]$ is mole ratio of 1st extractant to 2nd extractant (mM:mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [Amox] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L), *D* is distribution coefficient, *S* is synergistic coefficient.



$[F_{Y},]$	1 st Alamine 336 + 2 nd TBP									
$[Ex_{1}]$	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage	D	S					
3:9	0.8302±0.0016	446±13.9	10.7±2.79	0.12±0.039	0.51±0.324					
6:6	0.7811 ± 0.0018	420±13.3	16.0±2.66	0.19±0.042	0.70±0.365					
9:3	0.7761 ± 0.0027	417±13.7	16.5±2.74	0.20 ± 0.044	0.71±0.347					
10:2	0.7872±0.0016	423±13.3	15.4±2.66	0.18±0.041	0.57±0.275					

Table C.5 Synergistic coefficient of binary extractant systems with total extractant concentration equal to 12 mM (continued)

Note: $[Ex_1]$: $[Ex_2]$ is mole ratio of 1st extractant to 2nd extractant (mM:mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [Amox] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L), *D* is distribution coefficient, *S* is synergistic coefficient.



$[E_{r},]$	1 st Alamine 336 + 2 nd D2EHPA									
$[Ex_1] .$	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Extraction percentage	D	S					
3:9	0.6248±0.0016	336±10.7	32.8±2.15	0.49±0.053	0.62±0.142					
6:6	0.6629±0.0014	356±11.2	28.7±2.24	0.40±0.049	0.62±0.163					
9:3	0.6525±0.0003	351±10.5	29.8±2.09	0.43±0.047	0.82±0.232					
10:2	0.6416±0.0016	345±11.1	31.0±2.20	0.45±0.051	0.81±0.227					

Table C.5 Synergistic coefficient of binary extractant systems with total extractant

 concentration equal to 12 mM (contined)

Note: $[Ex_1]$: $[Ex_2]$ is mole ratio of 1st extractant to 2nd extractant (mM:mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, [Amox] is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L), *D* is distribution coefficient, *S* is synergistic coefficient.

Table C.6 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by using 6 mM of KCl solution and varying pH of stripping solution from 5 to 7 after forward extraction by employing 10 mM of Aliquat 336 combined with 2 mM of TBP and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10

pН	10 mM Aliquat 336 + 2 mM TBP							
1	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Stripping percentage					
5	0.2138±0.0006	171±2.5	34.2±0.62					
6	0.2125±0.0016	162±3.4	32.4±0.79					
7	0.2188 ± 0.0030	163±3.9	32.7±0.89					

Note: A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, *[Amox]* is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L).

Table C.7 Stripping percentage of amoxicillin by varying concentration of KCl from 2 to 10 mM and adjusting pH of stripping solution to 5 after forward extraction by employing 10 mM of Aliquat 336 combined with 2 mM of TBP and maintaining initial pH of amoxicillin solution at 10

[KCl]	10 mM	10 mM Aliquat 336 + 2 mM TBP								
Įneij	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	Stripping percentage							
2	0.2100±0.0013	168±4.0	33.6±0.92							
4	0.2123±0.0004	170±3.4	34.0±0.79							
6	0.2145 ± 0.0008	172±3.8	34.3±0.87							
8	0.2107±0.0003	169±3.3	33.7±0.78							
10	0.2102±0.0008	168±3.6	33.6±0.85							

Note: [KCl] is concentration of potassium chloride in stripping solution (mM), A_{272} is absorbance at 272 nm, *[Amox]* is the final concentration of amoxicillin in aqueous phase (mg/L).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

	Flow rate = 62.5 mL/min										
Time (min)		Tube sic	le			Shell s	ide				
(IIIII)	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Ex	pН	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Str	pН			
1	0.8911	479	2.8	9.81	0.0079	6	1.28	5.03			
2	0.8926	480	2.7	9.83	0.0053	4	0.86	5.03			
3	0.8073	434	12.0	9.83	0.0291	23	4.72	5.01			
4	0.8068	434	12.0	9.81	0.0279	22	4.53	5.03			
5	0.7461	401	18.6	9.78	0.0302	24	4.90	5.04			
6	0.7357	396	19.8	9.77	0.0286	23	4.64	5.04			
7	0.7554	406	17.6	9.69	0.0403	32	6.54	5.05			
8	0.7541	405	17.8	9.61	0.0381	30	6.18	5.07			
9	0.7339	395	20.0	9.62	0.0449	36	7.29	5.07			
10	0.7082	381	22.8	9.65	0.0410	33	6.65	5.07			
15	0.6995	376	23.7	9.55	0.0530	42	8.60	5.07			
20	0.6706	361	26.9	9.56	0.0584	47	9.48	5.07			
25	0.6174	332	32.7	9.55	0.0713	57	11.57	5.02			
30	0.6438	346	29.8	9.46	0.0583	47	9.46	5.06			
35	0.5909	318	35.6	9.41	0.0673	54	10.92	5.05			
40	0.6131	330	33.1	9.37	0.0584	47	9.48	5.06			
45	0.6458	347	29.6	9.36	0.0547	44	8.88	5.07			

Table C.8 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric flow rate ranged from 62.5 to 200 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 mixed with 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane

Table C.8 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric flow rate ranged from 62.5 to 200 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 mixed with 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane (continued)

T:	Flow rate = 62.5 mL/min										
(min)	Tube side				Shell side						
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Ex	рН	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Str	pН			
50	0.6350	341	30.8	9.37	0.0546	44	8.86	5.05			
55	0.6223	335	32.1	9.36	0.0537	43	8.71	5.05			
60	0.6266	337	31.7	9.36	0.0591	47	9.59	5.06			

Chulalongkorn University

	Flow rate = 100 mL/min										
Time (min)		Tube sid	de			Shell s	ide				
()	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Ex	pН	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Str	pН			
1	0.9090	489	3.2	9.87	0.0091	7	1.4	5.02			
2	0.8791	473	6.4	9.87	0.0079	6	1.3	5.02			
3	0.9047	486	3.7	9.83	0.0124	10	2.0	5.04			
4	0.8488	456	9.6	9.81	0.0187	15	3.0	5.04			
5	0.8135	437	13.4	9.81	0.0250	20	4.0	5.03			
6	0.8208	441	12.6	9.74	0.0286	23	4.5	5.04			
7	0.8000	430	14.8	9.75	0.0643	51	10.2	5.07			
8	0.8163	439	13.1	9.71	0.0384	31	6.1	5.05			
9	0.8260	444	12.1	9.69	0.0352	28	5.6	5.05			
10	0.7511	404	20.0	9.69	0.0689	55	10.9	5.06			
15	0.6893	371	26.6	9.66	0.0550	44	8.7	5.06			
20	0.6945	373	26.1	9.56	0.0598	48	9.5	5.06			
25	0.6475	348	31.1	9.54	0.0554	44	8.8	5.03			
30	0.6554	352	30.2	9.47	0.0561	45	8.9	5.04			
35	0.6335	341	32.6	9.44	0.0592	47	9.4	5.05			
40	0.6500	349	30.8	9.38	0.0540	43	8.6	5.07			

Table C.8 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric flow rate ranged from 62.5 to 200 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 mixed with 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane (continued)

Table C.8 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric flow rate ranged from 62.5 to 200 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 mixed with 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane (continued)

T:	Flow rate = 100 mL/min										
(min)	Tube side					Shell side					
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Ex	pН	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Str	pН			
45	0.6548	352	30.3	9.35	0.0560	45	8.9	5.06			
50	0.6582	354	29.9	9.34	0.0566	45	9.0	5.07			
55	0.6581	354	29.9	9.35	0.0515	41	8.2	5.06			
60	0.6575	353	30.0	9.35	0.0532	43	8.4	5.06			

	Flow rate = 150 mL/min										
Time (min)		Tube sid	de			Shell s	ide				
()	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Ex	pН	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Str	pН			
1	0.9123	490	1.5	9.84	0.0055	4	0.9	5.01			
2	0.8752	471	5.5	9.86	0.0095	8	1.5	5.02			
3	0.8897	478	3.9	9.86	0.0112	9	1.8	5.02			
4	0.8356	449	9.8	9.86	0.0150	12	2.4	5.02			
5	0.8536	459	7.8	9.84	0.0228	18	3.7	5.03			
6	0.8615	463	7.0	9.81	0.0250	20	4.0	5.04			
7	0.8454	455	8.7	9.85	0.0224	18	3.6	5.03			
8	0.8010	431	13.5	9.80	0.0383	31	6.2	5.03			
9	0.8065	434	12.9	9.84	0.0317	25	5.1	5.06			
10	0.7674	413	17.2	9.79	0.0505	40	8.1	5.06			
15	0.7174	386	22.6	9.78	0.0307	25	4.9	5.05			
20	0.7080	381	23.6	9.72	0.0496	40	8.0	5.03			
25	0.6771	364	26.9	9.72	0.0616	49	9.9	5.04			
30	0.6899	371	25.5	9.72	0.0520	42	8.4	5.04			
35	0.6804	366	26.5	9.67	0.0449	36	7.2	5.04			
40	0.7045	379	23.9	9.45	0.0478	38	7.7	5.05			

Table C.8 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric flow rate ranged from 62.5 to 200 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 mixed with 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane (continued)

Table C.8 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric flow rate ranged from 62.5 to 200 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 mixed with 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane (continued)

			Flow	rate $= 1$	50 mL/m	in		
Time (min)		Tube sic	Shell side					
	A_{272}	[Amox]	%Ex	pН	A_{272}	[Amox]	%Str	pН
45	0.6692	360	27.8	9.45	0.0480	38	7.7	5.05
50	0.6652	358	28.2	9.44	0.0486	39	7.8	5.06
55	0.6731	362	27.3	9.46	0.0435	35	7.0	5.06
60	0.6604	355	28.7	9.46	0.0453	36	7.3	5.05

	Flow rate = 200 mL/min										
Time (min)		Tube sid	de			Shell s	ide				
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Ex	pН	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Str	pН			
1	0.9214	495	0.5	9.90	0.0028	2	0.4	5.01			
2	0.8814	474	4.8	9.92	0.0022	2	0.4	5.02			
3	0.8959	482	3.3	9.90	0.0069	6	1.1	5.02			
4	0.8767	471	5.4	9.91	0.0131	10	2.1	5.02			
5	0.8891	478	4.0	9.89	0.0116	9	1.9	5.01			
6	0.8931	480	3.6	9.86	0.0131	10	2.1	5.01			
7	0.8312	447	10.3	9.85	0.0223	18	3.6	5.01			
8	0.8508	457	8.1	9.81	0.0278	22	4.5	5.01			
9	0.8517	458	8.1	9.82	0.0285	23	4.6	5.02			
10	0.8021	431	13.4	9.82	0.0329	26	5.3	5.01			
15	0.7762	417	16.2	9.82	0.0275	22	4.4	5.01			
20	0.7819	420	15.6	9.81	0.0337	27	5.4	5.02			
25	0.7372	396	20.4	9.81	0.0350	28	5.6	5.00			
30	0.7525	405	18.8	9.82	0.0391	31	6.3	5.03			
35	0.7435	400	19.7	9.78	0.0317	25	5.1	5.03			
40	0.7573	407	18.2	9.81	0.0321	26	5.2	5.03			

Table C.8 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric flow rate ranged from 62.5 to 200 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 mixed with 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane (continued)

Table C.8 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric flow rate ranged from 62.5 to 200 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 mixed with 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane (continued)

π.	Flow rate = 200 mL/min									
(min)		Tube sid	de	Shell side						
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Ex	рН	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Str	рН		
45	0.7555	406	18.4	9.79	0.0323	26	5.2	5.03		
50	0.7569	407	18.3	9.79	0.0348	28	5.6	5.03		
55	0.7300	392	21.2	9.82	0.0333	27	5.3	5.03		
60	0.7363	396	20.5	9.78	0.0362	29	5.8	5.03		

Eurotions	Nonlinear regression model					
Functions _	62.5 mL/min	100 mL/min	150 mL/min			
Asymtotic regression	Y = 31.82 -	Y = 31.51 -	Y = 28.19 -			
$\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{A} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{B} \mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{-} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{X}}$	32.37e ^{-0.12X}	32.40e ^{-0.09X}	29.50e ^{-0.08X}			
Michaelis-Menten	Y = 37.41X /	Y = 39.20X /	Y = 36.40X /			
Y = AX/(B+X)	(7.26 + X)	(11.52 + X)	(14.09 + X)			
Power	$Y = 8.97 X^{0.34}$	$Y = 6.54 X^{0.41}$	$Y = 4.95 X^{0.45}$			
$Y = AX^B$						

Table C.9 The nonlinear regression model of experimental data between extraction

 percentage and time

Note: Y is responses or extraction percentages (%), X is predictors or points of time (min), A is the 1^{st} parameter, B is the 2^{nd} parameter, C is the 3^{rd} parameter and SE is standard error.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Functions	Nonlinear regression model	Total value of SE
	200 mL/min	
Asymtotic regression	$Y = 20.25 - 21.55e^{-0.09X}$	8.6495
$\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{A} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{B} \mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{-} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{X}}$		
Michaelis-Menten	Y = 26.41X / (14.63 + X)	9.5714
Y = AX/(B+X)		
Power	$Y = 3.45 X^{0.46}$	13.8714
$\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{A}\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{B}}$		

Table C.9 The nonlinear regression model of experimental data between extraction

 percentage and time (continued)

Note: Y is responses or extraction percentages (%), X is predictors or points of time (min), A is the 1^{st} parameter, B is the 2^{nd} parameter, C is the 3^{rd} parameter and SE is standard error.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University
Functions	Non	Nonlinear regression model				
i unctions	62.5 mL/min	100 mL/min	150 mL/min			
Asymtotic regression	Y = 9.69 -	Y = 9.01 -	Y = 7.86 -			
$\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{B} \mathbf{e}^{-\mathbf{C}\mathbf{X}}$	10.11e ^{-0.15X}	11.09e ^{-0.21X}	8.75e ^{-0.15X}			
Michaelis-Menten	Y = 11.10X /	Y = 10.32X /	Y = 9.21X /			
Y = AX/(B+X)	(5.77 + X)	(5.04 + X)	(6.78 + X)			
Power	$Y = 3.24 X^{0.30}$	$Y = 3.29 X^{0.27}$	$Y = 2.38X^{0.32}$			
$Y = AX^B$						

Table C.10 The nonlinear regression model of experimental data between stripping

 percentage and time

Note: Y is responses or stripping percentages (%), X is predictors or points of time (min), A is the 1st parameter, B is the 2nd parameter, C is the 3rd parameter and SE is standard error.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Functions	Nonlinear regression model 200 mL/min	Total value of SE
Asymtotic regression	$Y = 5.56 - 6.87e^{-0.1/X}$	4.0762
$Y = A - Be^{-CX}$		
Michaelis-Menten	Y = 6.64X / (7.16 + X)	4.7249
Y = AX/(B+X)		
Power	$Y = 1.60 X^{0.34}$	6.2334
$\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{A}\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{B}}$		

Table C.10 The nonlinear regression model of experimental data between stripping

 percentage and time (continued)

Note: Y is responses or stripping percentages (%), X is predictors or points of time (min), A is the 1st parameter, B is the 2nd parameter, C is the 3rd parameter and SE is standard error.

Table C.11 Steady-state extraction and stripping percentage of amoxicillin viaHFSLM at different countercurrent flow rates

Flow rate (mL/min)	Steady-state extraction percentage	Steady-state stripping percentage
62.5	31.8	9.7
100	31.5	9.0
150	28.2	7.9
200	20.2	5.6

	10 mM Aliquat 336							
Time (min)		Tube sic	le			Shell s	ide	
	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Ex	pН	A ₂₇₂	[Amox]	%Str	pН
1	0.9105	490	2.1	9.82	0.0050	4	0.8	5.02
2	0.9187	494	1.2	9.84	0.0068	5	1.1	5.01
3	0.9029	485	2.9	9.84	0.0139	11	2.2	5.01
4	0.8215	442	11.7	9.79	0.0205	16	3.3	5.01
5	0.8014	431	13.8	9.78	0.0262	21	4.2	5.02
6	0.7988	429	14.1	9.77	0.0260	21	4.2	5.04
7	0.8011	431	13.9	9.73	0.0279	22	4.5	5.05
8	0.7846	422	15.6	9.75	0.0367	29	5.9	5.07
9	0.7860	423	15.5	9.75	0.0415	33	6.6	5.07
10	0.7418	399	20.2	9.71	0.0416	33	6.7	5.04
15	0.7429	399	20.1	9.67	0.0511	41	8.2	5.03
20	0.7453	401	19.9	9.63	0.0578	46	9.2	5.03
25	0.7099	382	23.7	9.53	0.0547	44	8.8	5.04
30	0.7068	380	24.0	9.55	0.0547	44	8.8	5.05
35	0.6851	368	26.3	9.53	0.0511	41	8.2	5.04
40	0.7113	382	23.5	9.50	0.0424	34	6.8	5.05

Table C.12 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetricflow rate of 62.5 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 as a liquid membrane

Table C.12 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric flow rate of 62.5 mL/min by using 10 mM Aliquat 336 as a liquid membrane (continued)

			10	iquat 336				
Time (min)		Tube sid	le			Shell s	ide	
	A_{272}	[Amox]	%Ex	pН	A_{272}	[Amox]	%Str	рН
45	0.6810	366	26.8	9.50	0.0533	43	8.5	5.06
50	0.7152	385	23.1	9.49	0.0480	38	7.7	5.06
55	0.7149	384	23.1	9.48	0.0522	42	8.4	5.04
60	0.7286	392	21.7	9.49	0.0511	41	8.2	5.04

				2 mM	TBP			
Time (min)		Tube sid	de			Shell s	ide	
	A_{272}	[Amox]	%Ex	pН	A_{272}	[Amox]	%Str	рН
1	0.9219	496	0.9	9.88	0.0014	1	0.2	5.01
2	0.9222	496	0.8	9.87	0.0038	3	0.6	5.00
3	0.9199	495	1.1	9.88	0.0041	3	0.7	5.01
4	0.9176	493	1.3	9.86	0.0050	4	0.8	5.01
5	0.9141	491	1.7	9.84	0.0037	3	0.6	5.02
6	0.9160	492	1.5	9.84	0.0052	4	0.8	5.01
7	0.9144	492	1.7	9.85	0.0051	4	0.8	5.01
8	0.9154	492	1.6	9.85	0.0068	5	1.1	5.02
9	0.9147	492	1.6	9.85	0.0068	5	1.1	5.01
10	0.9148	492	1.6	9.84	0.0060	5	1.0	5.02
15	0.9132	491	1.8	9.85	0.0067	5	1.1	5.02
20	0.9179	493	1.3	9.85	0.0068	5	1.1	5.02
25	0.9150	492	1.6	9.84	0.0060	5	1.0	5.02
30	0.9144	492	1.7	9.83	0.0065	5	1.0	5.02
35	0.9185	494	1.2	9.84	0.0069	6	1.1	5.02
40	0.9184	494	1.2	9.84	0.0062	5	1.0	5.02

Table C.13 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetric flow rate of 62.5 mL/min by using 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane

				2 mM	TBP			
Time (min)		Tube sid	de			Shell s	ide	
	A_{272}	[Amox]	%Ex	pН	A_{272}	[Amox]	%Str	pН
45	0.9151	492	1.6	9.84	0.0067	5	1.1	5.01
50	0.9157	492	1.5	9.85	0.0067	5	1.1	5.02
55	0.9164	493	1.5	9.84	0.0063	5	1.0	5.02
60	0.9150	492	1.6	9.84	0.0067	5	1.1	5.02

Table C.13 The performance of amoxicillin separation via HFSLM at volumetricflow rate of 62.5 mL/min by using 2 mM TBP as a liquid membrane (continued)

 Table C.14 The nonlinear regression model of experimental data between extraction

 percentage and time when flow rate of 62.5 mL/min was maintained during the

 operation of HFSLM

Functions	Nonlinear regression model				
	10 mM Aliquat 336	2 mM TBP			
Asymtotic regression	$Y = 23.83 - 27.66e^{-0.16X}$	$Y = 1.55 - 1.33e^{-0.48X}$			
$\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{B} \mathbf{e}^{-\mathbf{C}\mathbf{X}}$	(SE = 2.1146)	(SE = 0.1831)			

Note: Y is responses or stripping percentages (%), X is predictors or points of time (min), A is the 1st parameter, B is the 2nd parameter, C is the 3rd parameter and SE is standard error.

Table C.15 The nonlinear regression model of experimental data between stripping percentage and time when flow rate of 62.5 mL/min was maintained during the operation of HFSLM

Functions	Nonlinear regression model				
	10 mM Aliquat 336	2 mM TBP			
Asymtotic regression	$Y = 8.35 - 9.70e^{-0.17X}$	$Y = 1.05 - 1.00e^{-0.28X}$			
$\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{A} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{B} \mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{-} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{X}}$	(SE = 0.6584)	(SE = 0.0905)			

Note: Y is responses or stripping percentages (%), X is predictors or points of time (min), A is the 1st parameter, B is the 2nd parameter, C is the 3rd parameter and SE is standard error.

Table C.16 Extraction synergistic coefficient of the AqT mixture as a liquid membrane during the steady-state operation of HFSLM

Liquid membrane	D	S	-
10 mM Aliquat 336	0.31	วิทยาลัย -	-
2 mM TBP	0.02	JNIVERS <u>I</u> TY	
10:2 mM AqT	0.47	1.42	

Note: D is distribution coefficient, *S* is synergistic coefficient.

APPENDIX D EQUILIBRIUM STUDY FOR AMOXICILLIN EXTRACTION BY SINGLE EXTRACTANT

To find the number (n) of extractant (Ex) taking part in complexation with a mole of amoxicillin, the equilibrium complexation constant (K_E) represented by the complexing equation (Wasewar et al., 2002) at pH 10 is stated as follows and the nomenclature of each amoxicillin form is declared in Fig. D.1:

According to
$$Amox^{2-}+n\overline{Ex}\leftrightarrow \overline{Amox^{2-}Ex_n}$$
, (D.1)

$$K_{E} = \frac{a_{\overline{Amox^{2-}Ex_{n}}}}{a_{\overline{Ex}}{}^{n}a_{Amox^{2-}}} = \frac{\gamma_{\overline{Amox^{2-}Ex_{n}}}}{\gamma_{\overline{Ex}}{}^{n}\gamma_{Amox^{2-}}} \times \frac{[Amox^{2-}]^{\emptyset}[\overline{Ex}]^{\emptyset^{n}}}{[Amox^{2-}Ex_{n}]^{\emptyset}} \times \frac{[Amox^{2-}Ex_{n}]}{[Amox^{2-}][\overline{Ex}]^{n}}$$
(D.2)

where a is thermodynamic activity, $\gamma = activity$ coefficient, the overbar refers to the species in the organic phase, superscript ϕ refers to the standard state of dilute solution. The solution was assumed to behave as if it were ideal. In the other words, the interactions between chemical species within a same phase were negligible, so activity coefficients are unity and Equation D.2 consequently becomes:

$$K_{\rm E} = \frac{\left[{\rm Amox}^{2-} {\rm Ex}_{\rm n}\right]}{\left[{\rm Amox}^{2-}\right]\left[{\rm Ex}\right]^{\rm n}} \tag{D.3}$$

$$K_{E}[\overline{Ex}]^{n} = \frac{\left[Amox^{2} \cdot Ex_{n}\right]}{[Amox^{2} \cdot]}$$
(D.4)



Figure D.1 Various forms of amoxicillin in aqueous solution and their nomenclature

There is no precise analytical method to measure the concentration of chemical complexes in the organic phase and $Amox^{2-}$ in the aqueous phase, so these two terms are derived into the detectable variables by using three acid dissociation equilibriums:

According to $Amox^+ \leftrightarrow Amox + H^+$,

(D.5)

Chulalongkorn University

$$K_{a1} = \frac{a_{Amox}a_{H^{+}}}{a_{Amox^{+}}} = \frac{\gamma_{Amox}\gamma_{H^{+}}}{\gamma_{Amox^{+}}} \times \frac{[Amox^{+}]^{\emptyset}}{[Amox]^{\emptyset}[H^{+}]^{\emptyset}} \times \frac{[Amox][H^{+}]}{[Amox^{+}]}$$
(D.6)

$$K_{a1} = \frac{[Amox][H^+]}{[Amox^+]}$$
 (D.7)

According to
$$Amox \leftrightarrow Amox^- + H^+$$
, (D.8)

$$K_{a2} = \frac{a_{Amox}^{a} a_{H^{+}}}{a_{Amox}} = \frac{\gamma_{Amox}^{\gamma} \gamma_{H^{+}}}{\gamma_{Amox}} \times \frac{[Amox]^{\emptyset}}{[Amox^{-}]^{\emptyset} [H^{+}]^{\emptyset}} \times \frac{[Amox^{-}] [H^{+}]}{[Amox]}$$
(D.9)

$$K_{a2} = \frac{\left[Amox^{-}\right][H^{+}]}{[Amox]}$$
(D.10)

According to
$$Amox^2 + H^+$$
, (D.11)

$$K_{a3} = \frac{a_{Amox^{2-}}a_{H^{+}}}{a_{Amox^{-}}} = \frac{\gamma_{Amox^{2-}}\gamma_{H^{+}}}{\gamma_{Amox^{-}}} \times \frac{[Amox^{-}]}{[Amox^{2-}]} \times \frac{[Amox^{2-}][H^{+}]}{[Amox^{-}]}$$
(D.12)
$$K_{a3} = \frac{[Amox^{2-}][H^{+}]}{[Amox^{-}]}$$
(D.13)

Based on the definition of distribution ratio of a moxicillin (D),

$$D = \frac{\left[\operatorname{Amox}^{2^{-}}\operatorname{Ex}_{n}\right]}{\left[\operatorname{Amox}^{+}\right] + \left[\operatorname{Amox}^{-}\right] + \left[\operatorname{Amox}^{2^{-}}\right]}$$
(D.14)

Sub Eq. D.7, D.10 and D.13 into Eq. D.14:

$$D = \frac{\left[Amox^{2-}Ex_{n}\right]}{\frac{\left[H^{+}\right]^{3}\left[Amox^{2-}\right]_{+}\left[H^{+}\right]^{2}\left[Amox^{2-}\right]_{+}\left[H^{+}\right]\left[Amox^{2-}\right]_{+}\left[Amox^{$$

$$D = \frac{\left[Amox^{2} \cdot Ex_{n}\right]}{\left[Amox^{2} \cdot \right]\left(\frac{\left[H^{+}\right]^{3}}{K_{a1}K_{a2}K_{a3}} + \frac{\left[H^{+}\right]^{2}}{K_{a2}K_{a3}} + \frac{\left[H^{+}\right]^{2}}{K_{a3}} + 1\right)}$$
(D.16)

Sub Eq. D.4 into Eq. D.16:

$$D = \frac{K_{E}[\bar{Ex}]^{n}}{\frac{[H^{+}]^{3}}{K_{a1}K_{a2}K_{a3}} + \frac{[H^{+}]^{2}}{K_{a2}K_{a3}} + \frac{[H^{+}]}{K_{a3}} + 1}$$
(D.17)

Taking the log of both sides:

$$\log\left(D \times \left(\frac{[H^+]^3}{K_{a1}K_{a2}K_{a3}} + \frac{[H^+]^2}{K_{a2}K_{a3}} + \frac{[H^+]}{K_{a3}} + 1\right)\right) = n\log([\overline{Ex}]) + \log(K_E)$$
(D.18)

Let $\alpha = D \times \left(\frac{[H^+]^3}{K_{a1}K_{a2}K_{a3}} + \frac{[H^+]^2}{K_{a2}K_{a3}} + \frac{[H^+]}{K_{a3}} + 1 \right)$, Eq. D.18 becomes:

$$\log (\alpha) = n\log([\overline{Ex}]) + \log(K_E)$$

(D.19)

According to the experimental data (Table C.2), the calculated values of both $\log (\alpha)$ and $\log([\overline{Ex}])$ for each single extractant are shown in Table D.1. Plots of $\log (\alpha)$ versus $\log([\overline{Ex}])$ yielded straight lines well fitted to the experimental data for Aliquat 336, D2EHPA and Alamine 336 (Fig. D.2). The slope signified the number of extractants involving chemical complexes or the exponent on concentration of extractants (Eq. D.3).

$\log(\overline{\mathrm{Ex}}])$		log((α)	
	Aliquat 336	D2EHPA	TBP	Alamine 336
-2.699	-0.115	-0.378	-1.113	-0.602
-2.523	0.061	-0.388	-1.145	-0.590
-2.398	0.181	-0.348	-1.007	-0.552
-2.301	0.237	-0.329	-1.188	-0.609
-2.222	0.485	-0.204	-1.072	-0.521
-2.097	0.595	-0.166	-0.994	-0.516
-2.046	0.634	-0.064	-1.086	-0.483
-2.000	0.918	-0.056	-1.106	-0.426
-1.921	0.950	-0.035	-1.041	-0.328
-1.824	1.036	-0.064	-1.065	-0.394

Table D.1 The value of $log(\alpha)$ in Equation D.19 at different value of $log([\overline{Ex}])$

Note: [Ex] is concentration of extractant (M) and overbar refers to the species in the organic phase.

Chulalongkorn University



Figure D.2 Plots of log (α) versus log([\overline{Ex}]) by using different single extractant systems when the initial pH of amoxicillin solution was maintained at 10



VITA

Chaiyarerk Homsirikamol was born in Bangkok, Thailand on 30 November 1990. After completing his schoolwork at Triam Udom Suksa School, Bangkok, in 2009, Chaiyarerk entered Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, where he studied chemical technology and received the degree of Bachelor of Science with a major in fuel technology in April 2013. In June 2013, he entered the Graduate School of Chulalongkorn University and continued his education with a Masters of Chemical Engineering at Department of Chemical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering.

Publication: Chaiyarerk Homsirikamol, Niti Sunsandee, Ura Pancharoen and Kasidit Nootong. Effect of Extractant Type and pH on The Extraction of Amoxicillin from Pharmaceutical Wastewater. 9th Pure and Applied Chemistry International Conference. 21st – 23rd January 2015 Amari Watergate Hotel, Bangkok, Thailand, 622-625.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY